Relationships Between Expression of Heat Shock Protein Genes and Photosynthetic Behavior During Drought Stress in Plants

Cecilia Vasquez-Robinet

Dissertation submitted to the faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy In Plant Pathology, Physiology and Weed Science

> > Ruth Grene, Ph.D., Chair Eric Beers, Ph.D. Glenda Gillaspy, Ph.D. Lenwood S. Heath, Ph.D.

> > > April 10, 2007 Blacksburg, VA

Keywords: Photosynthesis, drought stress, loblolly pine, Arabidopsis, andean potato, HSP90, GRP94.

Relationships Between Expression of Heat Shock Protein Genes and Photosynthetic Behavior During Drought Stress in Plants

Cecilia Vasquez-Robinet

ABSTRACT

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are expressed in response to environmental stresses. Compared to other kingdoms, plant HSP families are larger, presumably the result of adaptation to a wide range of stresses. Following on an analysis of drought stress characteristics in loblolly pine (Watkinson et al., 2003), expression patterns of HSP gene expression during photosynthetic acclimation were examined. One cycle of mild (-1Mpa) followed by two cycles of severe stress (-1.7Mpa) were probed for conditioning effects. Photosynthetic acclimation occurred after the first cycle. No acclimation occurred without the first mild cycle. Microarray/RT-PCR analyses showed that a pine homolog to GRP94 (ER-resident HSP90) was up-regulated after rehydration coincident with acclimation. This GRP94 is closely related to GRP94 from the desiccation tolerant plant *X. viscosa*, supporting the importance of this gene during acclimation to water deficit. HSP genes whose products localized to the mitochondrion showed gradual up-regulation after consecutive cycles of severe drought.

The Arabidopsis pine GRP94 homolog, (AtHSP90-7) was then analyzed, using bioinformatics (Pati et al., 2006) and laboratory tools. Genes encoding putative candidate co-chaperones for GRP94 and other HSP90s were discovered, which contained water stress-related cis-elements. Arabidopsis (Col-0) wild type and two T-DNA insertion mutants in HSP90-7 were used to study the importance of this gene for photosynthetic acclimation. Only the mutants were able to acclimate to drought stress, with the level of AtHSP90-7 expression in the mutants being reduced compared to the wild type. AtHSP90-7 may have a different role in Arabidopsis, and its reduced expression activated other protective genes (Klein et al., 2006).

Responses to extreme drought in resistant (Sullu) and susceptible (Negra Ojosa) lines of Andean potatoes were also compared in order to identify relationships between HSPs gene expression, and tolerance, defined as the ability to maintain photosynthesis at 50% after 25 days of drought and to recover from the stress. Tolerance was correlated with up-regulation of HSPs (mostly chaperonins) and antioxidant genes all of whose gene products are located in the chloroplast.

Acknowledgements

I would like to give thanks to God, my savior, my Lord, for the many blessings that I receive from Him all days of my life.

I want to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Ruth Grene. I am really thankful for all her patience with me (specially my English grammar and spelling mistakes), for trusting in me and letting me try new techniques, and for being not only an advisor but a mentor and good friend. I also would like to thank Dr. Eric Beers and Dr. Glenda Gillaspy, for their advice through my research, for introducing me to the Arabidopsis world, and always being so open for questions. I am very thankful to Dr. Lenwood S. Heath for his kindness in explaining and helping me with the analysis of microarray data. I would like to thank Dr. Boris Chevone, for his help during the pine experiments. I am also very thankful to Dr. Hans Bohnert, for his guidance, his suggestions for experiments, manuscripts corrections, and letting me work in his lab at UIUC to test my hypotheses. I also would like to thank Dr. Erik Nilsen for kindly letting me use his LiCOR for the Arabidopsis experiments.

I want to thank the people in my lab: Mane and Verlyn, and former lab members Jonathan and Kerry for their friendship and help in the lab and outside the lab. I would like to thank Allan and Amrita for their help in my research, friendship, and patiently explain me many times how to work in Linux. I also would like to thank Dr. Sue Tolin, Peta-Gaye, and Moss for their friendship, suggestions, help, and supplies, like chocolate, when I was running out of it. I would like to thank Judy, Donna and Patsy, for their help with last minute ISRs, paper work, reminding me deadlines and just being so nice and patient with me and all the PPWS students.

I also would like to thank my plant scientist friends that through phone, e-mail or msn, gave me suggestions or just words of hope when the experiments were not working or life was not working: Peter, Dina, Zeny, Melissa, Paty, David, Flor, and Luchito.

Also I would like to thank the friends that I made during all this years at VT, for their support and friendship at all times: Alejandra, David, Jose Manuel, Adriana, Aracely, Mercedes, Sandra, Oscar, Cecilia, Fulvia, Hugo, Tatiana, Virgilio, Mónica, Juan Jose, Olgamary, Lourdes, Dione, Adrian, Christine L., Christine G., Sarah, Samantha, Lauralee, Lynn, Anand, Greg, Gil, Fr. Richard, Fr. Victor, Fr. John and many others.

I want to thank my husband, my friend, and my love, Sebastian, for his love and support all the time, giving me strength when I was just too upset and tired of not getting results, and celebrating with me when the experiments worked. Finally I want to thank my parents Pablo and Rosa and my siblings Rocío and Daniel, for their love and confidence in me.

Table of Contents:

Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1. Drought stress effects and physiology	1
1.2. Early responses to drought stress	2
1.3. Protection and repair molecules	3
1.3.1. Osmotic molecules	4
1.3.2. LEA proteins	4
1.3.3. Heat shock proteins	6
1.3.4. Antioxidant proteins/molecules	10
1.4. Justification	12
1.5. Objectives	13
Chapter 2 Differential Expression of Heat Shock Protein Genes in Precondition	ing
for Photosynthetic Acclimation in Drought-Stressed Loblolly Pine	14
2.1. Introduction	14
2.2. Materials and methods	17
2.2.1. Plant material and drought stress application	17
2.2.2. Microarrays	18
2.2.3. RNA extraction and hybridization	18
2.2.4. Real Time PCR	19
2.2.5. Cloning of pine GRP94 cDNA	20
2.3. Results	20
2.3.1. Some preconditioning for severe stress occurs after exposure to a mild str	ress
	20
2.3.2. Effects of preconditioning on gene expression	21
2.3.3. Some HSPs are associated with photosynthesis preconditioning	22
2.3.4. Other members of HSP families increase their expression after cycles of	
severe stress	24
2.3.5. Pine GRP94 is closely related to the GRP94 from a resurrection plant	25
2.4. Discussion	28
2.4.1. Possible role of heat shock proteins in preconditioning to drought	28

2.4.2. Possible role of heat shock proteins under severe drought stress conditions	29
2.4.3. Importance of pine GRP94 during drought stress responses	30
Chapter 3 Combinatorial Analysis of Cis-elements and Co-regulated Genes of A.	
thaliana Heat Shock Protein 90 Genes	31
3.1. Introduction	31
3.2. Materials and methods	34
3.2.1. Microarray expression data	34
3.2.2. Promoter and cis-element data	35
3.2.3. Analysis with <i>XCisClique</i>	35
3.3. Results	38
3.3.1. Significant motif combinations for the different HSP90 members	38
3.3.2. Putative co-chaperones	41
3.3.3. Other stress genes present in the bicliques	41
3.4. Discussion	42
3.4.1. Functional redundancy of endoplasmic HSP90s?	42
3.4.2. Organellar HSP90s old and new roles	44
Chapter 4 Can Arabidopsis Acclimate to Drought Stress? Photosynthetic Respon	ses
in Wild Type Columbia and two At4g24190 (HSP90-7) Promoter Insertional	
Mutants During two Cycles of Drought Stress	45
4.1. Introduction	45
4.2. Materials and methods	46
4.2.1. Plant material and mutant screening	
	46
4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47
4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality4.2.3. Drought stress application	46 47 47
4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality4.2.3. Drought stress application	46 47 47 49
 4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47 47 49 49
 4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47 47 49 49 50
 4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47 47 49 49 50 50
 4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47 47 49 49 50 50 nts
 4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality	46 47 47 49 49 50 50 nts 54

4.4. Discussion	60
4.4.1. AtHSP90-7 may be an essential gene for pollen germination or pollen	tube
formation	60
4.4.2. Lower expression of AtHSP90-7 is needed for photosynthetic acclimation	tion in
Arabidopsis	60
Chapter 5 Physiological and Molecular Adaptations to Drought in Andean P	otato
Genotypes	62
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Materials and methods	64
5.2.1. Plant material and drought stress application	64
5.2.2. RNA isolation	65
5.2.3. Microarrays	65
5.2.4. Statistical analysis and data mining	67
5.2.5. Real Time PCR	67
5.3. Results	
5.3.1. Effect of drought stress on root weight, tuber number and average tube	er
weight	
5.3.2. S. andigena landraces are more tolerant to drought stress than is compared	ared to
S. tuberosum	70
5.3.3. Differential expression of chaperone genes at maximum drought stress	s in
Sullu and Negra ojosa	73
5.3.4. Differential expression of ABA responsive genes in Sullu and Negra C)josa. 75
5.3.5. Differential expression of antioxidant genes in Sullu and Negra Ojosa	76
5.4. Discussion	
5.4.1. S. tuberosum spp andigena genotypes are adapted to low water condit	tions
compared to S. tuberosum	
5.4.2. Heat shock genes that may contribute tolerance to drought stress in Su	llu 79
5.4.3. Negra Ojosa experiences a severe drought stress, compared to Sullu. A	ЪA
signalling genes are up-regulated primarily in Negra Ojosa	80
5.4.4. Antioxidant genes help Sullu tolerate drought stress	
References	82

List of Tables

20
22
otic
38
40
40
43
47
55
66
68
74
76
77

List of Figures

Figure 1-1 HSP90 protein structure	7
Figure 1-2 Domain structure of HSP70s	9
Figure 2-1 Effects of drought stress on water potential and photosynthesis	. 21
Figure 2-2 Relative expression of genes associated with photosynthetic acclimation	. 23
Figure 2-3 Relative expression of protection and repair genes that are highly induced at	t a
severe drought stress but then are unchanged	. 24
Figure 2-4 Relative expression of genes that increase their expression during each cycl	e
of severe stress at the maximum stress point	. 25
Figure 2-5 Protein alignment of ER HSP90 from pine with related plant ERHSP90s	. 27
Figure 2-6 Phenogram of plant ER resident HSP90	. 28
Figure 3-1 Phylogenetic tree promoter region of HSP90-2, HSP90-3 and HSP90-4	. 42
Figure 4-1 Drought stress experiment setup in growth chamber	. 47
Figure 4-2 Diagram of drought stress experiments	. 48
Figure 4-3 Gene expression in T-DNA insertion lines in At4g24190 as revealed by	
semiquantitative RT-PCR	. 51
Figure 4-4 PCR results of screening for homozygous SALK145452 mutants	. 52
Figure 4-5 Location of the T-DNA insertions in the SALK145452 (a) and SAIL227_C0)7
(b)	. 52
Figure 4-6 Location of T-DNA insertions in the upstream sequence of At4g24190	
(AtHSP90-7)	. 53
Figure 4-7 Expression of HSP90-7 gene in mutant homozygous lines and wild type (Co	ol-
O) plants	. 54
Figure 4-8 Effect of drought stress on WT and mutants after two cycles of stress and	
recovery	. 55
Figure 4-9 Effects of Two Succesive Cycles of Drought Stress on Photosynthesis and	
Relative Water Content in wild type Col and hsp90-7-1 and 2	. 57
Figure 4-10. Time of flowering in unstressed WT and hsp90-7-1 plants	. 58
Figure 4-11 Effects of Drought Stress on the Relative expression of AtHSP90-7 in the	
hsp90-7-2 Mutant and Wild type	. 59

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1. Drought stress effects and physiology

Low water availability is the main environmental factor that limits plant growth and yield in crops worldwide (Flexas et al., 2006; Valliyodan and Nguyen, 2006). Global climate change will likely reduce water availability still further in a larger amount of land (Hamdy et al., 2003) increasing the need for drought tolerant crops. For example, high yield varieties of rice (HYR) are very sensitive to drought stress even under short time exposures (Lafitte et al., 2007). The most consumed variety of potato (*S. tuberosum* subsp *tuberosum*) is highly susceptible to drought stress (Weisz et al., 1994; Shock et al., 1998) reducing yield up to 53% (Lahlou et al., 2003). Gymnosperms, which are not crops and therefore more exposed to environmental changes, are also affected by drought stress. Drought stress is the most common cause for pine mortality in the US according to the Southern Industrial Forestry Research Council (Report, 1986).

Drought stress greatly reduces net photosynthesis rates in plants (Flexas and Medrano, 2002; Chaves et al., 2003). This decrease in photosynthesis is initially due to the closing of stomates to avoid water loss, which results in a reduction of CO_2 availability for the chloroplasts. This phenomenon occurs in response to a water deficit with a leaf relative water content of 70-75% (Chaves et al., 2003). Stomatal closing is signaled by ABA (Schroeder et al., 2001; Israelsson et al., 2006) and experiments with dehydrated and ABA-treated leaves have shown that photochemical efficiency could be almost completely reversed after a quick transfer of the leaves to a CO_2 enriched atmosphere (Meyer and Genty, 1998), indicating that photosynthetic capacity remained high during dehydration and CO_2 limitation was responsible for reduction in net photosynthesis.

Exposure to a mild level of drought stress can "acclimate" the plant for a future exposure to drought as has been shown in wheat (Selote et al., 2004; Selote and Khanna-Chopra, 2006). Selote et al. (2004) found that exposure to a mild stress can reduce the

amount of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and lipid peroxidation compared to a plant that had not been previously exposed to stress. Previous exposure to mild drought stress induced expression of H_2O_2 metabolizing enzymes, specially ascorbate peroxidase. At the metabolite level acclimated plants maintained a reduced ascorbate-glutathione redox pool (Selote and Khanna-Chopra, 2006). We have shown that loblolly pine seedlings exposed to a mild drought stress (1-MPa water potential) acclimate in the 2nd cycle of exposure to a similar stress, keeping a photosynthesis rate similar to control plants (~3.0 µmolCO₂/m/s) even though they were at a much lower water potential(-1MPa) than control plants (Watkinson et al., 2003). Gene expression studies in these plants showed a specific up-regulation of heat shock protein genes (HSPs), late embryogenesis abundant proteins (LEAs) and aromatic amino acid flavonoid synthesis related genes, when photosynthetic acclimation occurred.

1.2. Early responses to drought stress

Early drought stress experiments have shown that ABA accumulates under water deficits (Mizrahi et al., 1971; Boussiba et al., 1975; Radin, 1981; Robertson et al., 1985). Many genes that are expressed after ABA application are also expressed under drought stress (Bray, 1997; Bray, 2002; Chaves et al., 2003; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006) suggesting that ABA acts as a signaling molecule under drought stress conditions. However, microarray expression analysis has shown that there are also many genes that are expressed under drought stress but not after ABA application (Ishitani et al., 1997; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 1997; Zhu et al., 2002) implying the existence of alternative and/or parallel signaling pathways.

Many transcription factors have been identified as drought stress responsive such as DREB1A/CBF (Stockinger et al., 1997; Liu et al., 1998), DREB2A and B (Nakashima et al., 2000), AREB/ABF (Choi et al., 2000; Uno et al., 2000) and various MYBs (Abe et al., 2003). However, a receptor or sensor for drought stress has not been identified yet, since there is no chemical ligand that participates in water stress responses that could be used for the identification of a receptor. It is believed that turgor, or membrane pressure, can be considered a stimulus during drought stress (Morgan, 1984; Wood, 1999). Studies in an osmolarity sensitive yeast mutant *sln1* (Synthetic Lethal of N End Rule 1) showed that a two-component histidine kinase senses cellular turgor pressure by an unknown mechanism (Reiser et al., 2003). SHO1 (SH3 Domain Osmosensor) is another osmosensing protein found in yeast (Tamas et al., 2000). A screening of histidine kinases, showed that two Arabidopsis histidine kinases AtHK1 and CRE1 (Cytokinin Response 1) can complement the *sln1* deleteion mutant in yeast (Reiser et al., 2003). However, as of yet, there is no proof that these proteins can work as osmosensors in plants.

Most of the drought stress experiments that have allowed the identification of transcription factors or signaling molecules during drought stress have been "shock" experiments, where the plant is exposed to a quick dehydration (Urao et al., 1993; Kiyosue et al., 1994; Seki et al., 2001). A recent paper has compared gene expression after a "shock" drought stress treatment with results obtained after slow drying (7 and 11 days) in barley (Talame et al., 2007). Only ~10% of the genes that were induced under the "shock" treatment responded in the slow drying plants. Moreover, the magnitude of expression change in slow drying plants was low, compared to the fast drying plants. Therefore Talame et al.(2007) concluded that fast drying experiments could be helpful to find genes related to signaling and recognition of the stress, but not to find genes related to acclimation that might provide long – term protection for the plant.

1.3. Protection and repair molecules

Plants can defend themselves from water stress by avoiding it (not growing during the dry season), developing structures that allow for the conservation of water (i.e. succulents), or increasing the efficiency of water use (i.e. crassulacean acid metabolism plants). All these are drought adaptation strategies. Plants that are tolerant to drought stress (i. e. by previous exposure to a mild stress) have developed mechanisms that help to avoid water loss (osmotic molecules such as proline and sugars), stabilize/repair damaged proteins due to the absence of water (HSPs, LEAs) and/or have a higher availability of antioxidant molecules or enzymes.

1.3.1. Osmotic molecules

Osmotic adjustment molecules include proteins and amino acids such as proline (Pro), aspartic acid and glutamic acid. These molecules decrease the cell osmotic potential, which allows the maintenance of water absorption and cell turgor under water deficit. Proline is the osmolyte that has been most frequently observed to accumulate under water stress. Expression of enzymes for proline synthesis are induced under drought stress and enzymes for Pro metabolism/degradation are induced during rehydration (Yoshiba et al., 1997). Recent studies on Arabidopsis plants exposed to low water potential have shown that ABA accumulation is necessary for Pro accumulation, however, ABA alone is not sufficient to increase Pro accumulation. Using ABA insensitive mutants, it was observed that severity of water stress and ABA must increase in tandem to increase Pro accumulation (Verslues and Bray, 2006).

1.3.2. LEA proteins

Late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins were initially characterized during the later stages of seed maturation, but they have since been found in other vegetative tissues. In vegetative tissues, they are expressed developmentally and are induced by environmental stress (dehydration, osmotic and low temperature stress) or by ABA application.

Although LEA proteins were first identified in seeds, they appear to be widespread in prokaryotes and eukaryotes (Garay-Arroyo et al., 2000; Battista et al., 2001; Browne et al., 2002; Wise and Tunnacliffe, 2004). Several roles have been proposed for LEAs based on the predicted amino acid sequences, *in vitro* studies, or ectopic expression. These roles include: water binding proteins, chaperones with the ability to stabilize proteins (Dure, 1993; Honjoh et al., 2000), membranes (Ismail et al., 1999) and proteins that bring about ion sequestration (Zhang et al., 2000). However, the exact functional role of this group of proteins remains unknown. Based on conserved sequence motifs, LEAs have now been classified into 7 groups.

Group II LEA proteins (dehydrins) are highly hydrophilic with a variable structure. This structure includes one or more conserved 15-amino-acid lysine-rich sequences (the K-segment) with a consensus sequence, EKKGIMDKIKELP, that might form an amphipathic α -helix. There is immunological evidence for the existence of dehydrins in a wide range of photosynthetic organisms, including higher and lower plants and cyanobacteria (Close, 1997). Dehydrins have been found in the cytoplasm, nucleus and endomembrane system. Because of the sub-cellular localization of these proteins in the endomembrane protection function. Studies of Dhn (Dehydrin) from cowpea show the formation of α -helical structures in the presence of SDS and a non-definite structure in the absence of SDS, suggesting that *in vivo* dehydrins may contain α -helical structure(s) in a lipid-bound state and have a membrane stabilization role (Ismail et al., 1999). Watkinson *et al* (2003) observed that the up-regulation of this group of LEAs was associated with photosynthetic acclimation.

Group III LEA proteins contain a repeat of an 11-mer amino acid motif with the consensus sequence TAQAAKEKAGE, possibly forming an amphiphilic α -helical structure. The arrangement of charged amino acids in the motif suggests a function in sequestering ions (Dure, 1993). Overexpression of HVA1 (a LEA III from barley) in rice results in improved tolerance to water and salt stress (Xu et al., 1996) and the expression of the same gene in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* confers tolerance to high levels of KCl and NaCl (Zhang et al., 2000). Battista (2001) found that the deletion of a homologue of LEA 76 (which belong to LEA group 3), DR1172 in *Deinococcus radiodurans*, a non-spore forming bacterium, reduced tolerance to desiccation, highlighting the protective role of these proteins during water stress not only in plants but also in prokaryotes. The up-regulation of this class of LEAs was correlated with severe drought stress conditions in loblolly pine (Watkinson et al., 2003).

1.3.3. Heat shock proteins

HSPs, or molecular chaperones, are structurally diverse, but they all share the property of binding other proteins that are in non-native structural states, facilitating many structural processes such as folding, targeting and degradation. They are called heat shock proteins because the proteins were first discovered in abundance after heat stress. It is believed that during high temperature stress, they can prevent irreversible protein denaturation. HSPs are classified in 5 groups according to their approximate molecular masses.

The HSP 90 class

This class varies from 82 to 96kD. Proteins that belong to this class function as ATP-dependent chaperones that bind to highly structured folding intermediates, preventing aggregation. HSP90s can act alone or in concert with other proteins, forming for example the cytoplasmic chaperone heterocomplex (CCH). HSP70, HSP90 and an FK506 binding protein (FKBP, a peptidyl prolyl isomerase) have been identified as components of wheat CCH (Reddy et al., 1998). Another member of the heterocomplex is HOP (HSP70 and HSP90 organizing protein). There are three HOPs in Arabidopsis and studies in soybean have shown that HOP is part of the CHH in plants (Zhang et al., 2003).

Studies in *A. thaliana* have shown that HSP90 might have a "buffering" activity regulating the expression of genes, which generates different phenotypes. HSP90 activity was inhibited pharmacologically using geldanamycin (GDA), revealing altered phenotypes in treated plants compared to those grown without GDA in different *A. thaliana* ecotypes and recombinant inbred lines (RI, homozygous in almost all loci). The same altered phenotypes were observed when plants were grown at elevated temperatures. The fact of observing similar altered phenotypes in plants with reduced HSP90 activity and plants treated with a heat stress suggested that HSP90 can store and release genetic variation. Similar experiments reducing HSP90 activity in *Drosophila* showed phenotypes that might be described as "monstrous", but in *A. thaliana* these

altered phenotypes show characteristics (i.e. purple pigment accumulation) that could be useful for the plant during stress conditions such as heat stress. (Queitsch et al., 2002). It has been suggested that the HSP90 complex performs this "buffering" activity by the activation/folding of signaling proteins that have variable domains such as R proteins (Sangster and Queitsch, 2005), which are part of the disease resistance response in plants.

The HSP90 family in Arabidopsis has 7 members: one in each organelle (chloroplast and mitochondria), one in the cytosol, three very similar in the endomembrane system¹ and one in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). Their protein structure includes an ATPase domain (N-terminal), a middle domain (probably for client protein binding) and a C-terminal domain for binding with co-chaperones containing the MEEVD motif, which is believed to interact with the TPR domain of FKBP peptydil prolyl isomerases. The C-terminal domain is also a dimerization domain, since this protein forms an homodimer (Wegele et al., 2004) (Figure 1-1).



Figure 1-1 HSP90 protein structure

So far only two co-chaperones: SGT1 and RAR1 have been found for the cytosolic HSP90 (At5g56240) (Takahashi et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2004). Few target proteins have been identified for HSP90s in plants. RPM1 is a client protein of

¹ The 3 endomembrane system localized gene products were previously considered to be in the cytosol but after analysis with TargetP, they were considered to be in the endomembrane system, and that is the location for those genes in TAIR.

At5g56030, one of the endomembrane located HSP90s (Hubert et al., 2003)². The other client proteins are clavata (CLV) proteins, which regulate the shoot and floral meristem. CLV proteins are clients of the ER resident HSP90 (At4g24190) (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Recent studies in the *shd* (shepherd) mutant, which has a T-DNA insertion 16bps upstream of the first codon of the ER resident HSP90, have shown that it is not a real knockout, being expressed in roots under normal conditions, and induced in leaves after tunicamycin application (Klein et al., 2006). ER resident HSP90s, also known as GRP94 (glucose regulated protein 94) in mammals are induced by the Unfolded Protein Response (Kozutsumi et al., 1988). A GRP94 homolog in *X. vicosa*, a dessication tolerant plant, is responsive to drought stress (from 74% to 7% RWC) and to rehydration (34% to 93% RWC) (Walford et al., 2004).

HSP90s have mostly not been found to be responsive after "shock" drought treatments. Among the only one responsive is At5g56030 (endomembrane located HSP90) which was called earlier ERD8 (early response to dehydration 8), being responsive after 1 hour of drought (Kiyosue et al., 1994).

The HSP70 class

This class varies from 68 to 110kD. Some members are constitutively expressed (HSC) whereas others are expressed only under environmental stresses. They cannot act by themselves and work with two co-chaperones namely DnaJ homologs and HSP40 in eukaryotes in an ATP dependent reaction. The major function of this protein seems to be protein folding. The binding of DnaJ homologs to HSP70 activates its ATPase domain. This binding is specific since the binding of a DnaJ that is not the co-chaperone of the HSP70 does not activates the ATPase function of the protein (Diefenbach and Kindl, 2000). Another function is folding and transport of proteins into the chloroplast and the mitochondrion (Zhang and Glaser, 2002).

The Arabidopsis HSP70 family has 18 members, 9 in the cytosol, 3 in the chloroplast, 2 in the mitochondrion, and 4 in the ER (Lin et al., 2001; Sung et al., 2001).

 $^{^{2}}$ At5g56030 is part of the 3 HSP90s that were considered to be in the cytosol at the time of the publication (2003).but then were relocated to the endomembrane system.

The HSP70 family is divided in two subfamilies. The DnaK subfamily, homologs to the bacterial HSP70 (DnaK), has 14 members in Arabidopsis. The HSP110/SSE subfamily, homologs to mammalian HSP110, which are larger and more divergent from HSP70s has 4 members in Arabidopsis (Lin et al., 2001).

The protein domain structure of HSP70s is very similar to the HSP90s (

Figure 1-2), but the site of binding with the co-chaperone seems to be under the ATPase domain in a cleft between its two subdomains and at or near the pocket of substrate binding (Suh et al., 1998).



Figure 1-2 Domain structure of HSP70s

ER-resident HSP70s, are also called BiPs (lumenal Binding Proteins). Overexpression of SoyBiPD (soybean BIP) in tobacco conferred tolerance to water stress after a reduction of its relative water content to 65% (Alvim et al., 2001). The plants overexpressing BiP also had a lower SOD activity compared with the control plants (empty plasmid) and antisense plants, which exhibited much more stress. This might indicate that BiP overexpressing plants were more tolerant to drought because, by an unknown mechanism, BiP reduced the ROS stress caused by the reduced water availability.

Overexpression of cytosolic NtHSP70-1 in tobacco conferred drought stress tolerance, but again the mechanism whereby this tolerance was achieved is not known. (Cho and Hong, 2006).

Small heat shock proteins

Small heat shock proteins (sHSPs) have a size between 15-30kD. They are the most diverse group of HSPs and can be found in the cytosol, mitochondria, chloroplast, and ER. *In vitro* studies suggest that they can act as molecular chaperones, preventing thermal aggregation of proteins by binding non-native intermediates. Lee and Vierling (2000), working with Luc protein (firefly luciferase), found that prevention of aggregation of heat denatured Luc was more effective with small HSPs than with other HSP70 or DnaK systems. The prevention of aggregation was more enhanced in the presence of HSP70 and homologs. On the basis of these results, Lee and Vierling (2000) proposed a model, where sHSPs bind substrate protein in a non-dependent ATP fashion, to then transfer them to the HSC70 complex. This energy-independent mode of action provides the cell with an efficient way to protect non-native proteins under stress conditions.

There are 19 sHSPs in Arabidopsis: 13 localized in the cytosol, 3 in plastids, 2 in the mitochondria, and 1 in the ER (Scharf et al., 2001).

The levels of sHSP17.4 in dessication tolerance seeds were higher than in non tolerant seed. This finding, plus the specific regulation during seed maturation (dessication stage) in Arabidopsis, suggests that this sHSP has a protective role during dessication (Wehmeyer and Vierling, 2000).

In vitro experiments with mitochondrial sHSP have shown that the protein protects the NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase complex during heat stress in plants (Downs and Heckathorn, 1998). Later experiments with maize mitochondrial sHSPs showed also that they can improve mitochondrial electron transport during salt stress, again protecting the NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase activity (Hamilton and Heckathorn, 2001).

1.3.4. Antioxidant proteins/molecules

Since water deficit induces stomatal closure, this reduces CO₂ assimilation, which results in NADPH accumulation in the chloroplast .This accumulation produces a leakage

of e⁻ towards O_2 , increasing the production of ROS (Asada, 1999). In plants, ROS are always produced in chloroplast, mitochondria and peroxisomes, whenever electron transport takes place. Therefore production and removal of ROS must be strictly controlled. But under abiotic stresses, such as drought the equilibrium between production and scavenging is altered, more ROS are produced which can result in damage to membranes (lipid peroxidation) and enzymes (protein oxidation).

Antioxidant molecules and scanvenging enzymes

Molecules known to remove reactive oxygen species (ROS) are glutathione (γ -glutamyl-cysteinyl-glycine; GSH) and ascorbic acid (Asc) (Noctor et al., 2000). GSH reacts with 'OH, while Asc also reacts with the superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) and the singlet oxygen (1O_2). An abundance of the reduced species of these molecules was observed after exposure to a mild drought stress in wheat seedlings (Selote and Khanna-Chopra, 2006).

Among the best known ROS scanvenging enzymes are: superoxide dismutates (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDAR) dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR), glutathione reductase (GR), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), and catalase (CAT). Through the water-water cycle (SOD and APX), the ascorbate-glutahtione cycle (APX, MDAR, DHAR, and GR), the glutathione peroxidase cycle (GPX and GR), and the action of catalase (CAT), ROS are removed from the plant (Mittler, 2002).

Other antioxidant molecules are thioredoxin and thioredoxin peroxidases (Trx) and glutathione S transferases (GST) that could also act as peroxidases. Overexpression of a GST peroxidase in tobacco resulted in osmotic and chilling tolerant plants compared to wild types (Roxas et al., 1997).

Trx catalyzes the reduction of S-S bridges to -SH groups. One of the targets of this protein is the enzyme peroxiredoxin (Prx), which in its reduced form can then react with H_2O_2 and remove it (Desikan et al., 2005).

Flavonoids and anthocyanins

The definition of antioxidant in its broad sense means that these molecules when present at low concentration compared to an oxidizable substrate significantly delay or prevent the substrate's oxidation. Phenolic compounds are excellent antioxidants, due to the electron donating activity of the 'acidic' phenolic hydroxyl group. Flavonoids are phenolic compounds that are ubiquitous in the plant and are best known as the characteristic red, blue, and purple anthocyanin pigments of plant tissue (Winkel-Shirley, 2001). A survey of the antioxidant properties of 30 flavonoids, compared with a Vitamin E analog, resulted in higher scavenging activity from flavonoids (Rice-Evans et al., 1996). Among flavonoids the highest scavenging activities were found for flavonol quercetin, anthocyanidins cyaniding, and delphinidin (Rice-Evans et al., 1996).

Dihydroflavonol -4- reductase (DFR), which is the first enzyme for the production of anthocyanins and proanthocyanidins, has shown to be up-regulated during dehydration in a drought-resistant cowpea (Iuchi et al., 1996). Up-regulation of DFR and other genes for the synthesis of dihydroflavonols was observed in loblolly pine seedlings that showed photosynthetic acclimation after an exposure to mild stress (Watkinson et al., 2003).

1.4. Justification

Knowledge of mechanisms involved in tolerance and resistance to drought stress is still meager. Families of genes involved in "protection and repair" such as heat shock proteins are not fully characterized and their role remains unknown. Characterization of particular members of gene families that play a large role in drought tolerance will yield candidate genes for breeding or for reduction of the losses due to drought stress not only in pine trees and potatoes but also in other crops.

1.5. Objectives

In previous drought experiments in loblolly pine (Heath et al., 2002; Watkinson et al., 2003) differential expression of protection and repair proteins was observed. Under mild treatment where photosynthetic acclimation was detected up-expression of genes homologous to dehydrins (LEA group2), HSPs (90s. 70s and 40s) and peptidyl prolyl isomerases (PPiases) was observed; while under severe treatment up-expression of genes homologous to LEA76 (LEA group3), HSPs (70, 90) and PPiases was observed.

Based on these results my objectives will be:

- 1. Using microarrays and Expresso, an integrated solution to microarray experiment management and data analysis, further characterize responses to drought in loblolly pine needles and potato subjected to different levels of stress.
- **2.** Use the results of analysis of gene expression patterns to propose roles for individual protection and repair genes in drought stress responses.
- **3.** Search for homologs of pine drought responsive protection and repair genes in *A*. *thaliana* and look for upstream regulatory sequences.
- **4.** Identify drought responsive genes in potato and the pathways in which they participate.

Chapter 2 Differential Expression of Heat Shock Protein Genes in Preconditioning for Photosynthetic Acclimation in Drought-Stressed Loblolly Pine

2.1. Introduction

Water stress affects a large range of species causing substantial losses in many crops (Valliyodan and Nguyen, 2006). It affects every aspect of plant growth, modifying anatomy, morphology, physiology, and biochemistry.

Growth is closely related to water availability and growth inhibition during drought is caused by different factors. Among these are reduced availability of CO_2 which affects photosynthesis, generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which may cause lipid membrane peroxidation, inactivation of enzymes and intracellular loss of water due to movement of solutes that can change pH, increasing protein instability

In early drought stress experiments, it was found that ABA accumulates under water deficits (Mizrahi et al., 1971; Boussiba et al., 1975). Many genes that are expressed after ABA application are also expressed under drought stress (Bray, 1997; Bray, 2002; Chaves et al., 2003; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006) suggesting that ABA acts as a signaling molecule under drought stress conditions. Later microarray experiments, showed that there were genes that are up-regulated by drought stress but not after ABA application (Ishitani et al., 1997; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, 1997; Zhu et al., 2002) suggesting the existence of ABA alternative signaling pathways. ABA also signals stomatal closure in guard cells by ion efflux (Schroeder et al., 2001; Israelsson et al., 2006). Recent studies have shown that phospholipase D alpha-1 mediates this response (Mishra et al., 2006). ABA is also associated with decreased shoot growth during drought stress, although there is speculation that this is due to ABA interaction with ethylene, resulting in reduced shoot and root growth (Sharp and LeNoble, 2002; LeNoble et al., 2004).

The genes that are expressed under drought stress can be classified into two groups. The first group consists of genes that are related to signaling, such as transcription factors, kinases, enzymes related to phospholipid metabolism and calcium signaling molecules such as calmodulin binding proteins and 14-3-3 proteins. The over expression of some of these genes has generated drought stress tolerant plants, i.e. DREB1A:Arabidopsis (Kasuga et al., 1999), wheat (Pellegrineschi et al., 2004), and rice (Oh et al., 2005).

The second group are genes related to tolerance to drought stress, such as LEA proteins (Dure et al., 1989; Welin et al., 1994; Close, 1996; Nylander et al., 2001), enzymes for metabolism of osmolytes (Yoshiba et al., 1997; Satoh et al., 2002), antioxidant proteins (Mittler and Zilinskas, 1994; Jiang and Zhang, 2002; Pastori and Foyer, 2002; Walz et al., 2002), and chaperones or HSPs (Vierling, 1991; Rizhsky et al., 2002; Rizhsky et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004). Overexpression of some of these genes has also generated drought stress tolerant plants such as HVA1, barley LEA3 protein in rice (Xu et al., 1996) and BIP, soybean luminal binding protein in tobacco (Alvim et al., 2001).

Even though the knowledge of mechanisms of tolerance to drought stress has increased lately, the functions of genes related to the events after the perception of the stress and/or the recovery response, are not fully understood. Furthermore, the drought stress imposed has mostly been in the form of a "shock" treatment, while drought stress in the field takes place in days or weeks. Under prolonged drying conditions, plants have the opportunity to improve their water relations and photosynthesis by gene expression and modification of physiological function and morphology. There have been many physiology studies of prolonged drought stress. However, the effects of prolonged drought on gene expression has only been analyzed in a few cases: *A. thaliana* (Rizhsky et al., 2004), tobacco (Rizhsky et al., 2002), and barley (Talame et al., 2007). Moreover, these studies focus on the changes of gene expression under drought stress for one cycle of drought and did not investigate the consequences of consecutive cycles of drought stress, which is what occurs in nature.

Loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) is one of the most widely planted pine species in the world. Among plantations, cutover forest, and abandoned farmland, it covers

approximately 134,000 Km² (Shultz, 1999). Like other species, loblolly pine is affected by drought stress, being the most common cause of pine mortality in the USA (Southern Industrial Forestry Research Council Report, 1986). Research to understand drought tolerance and find genes related to it have been done in many species already, but only a few studies have been conducted in forest tress, and fewer yet in conifers (Chang et al., 1996; Dubos and Plomion, 2003). A recent study, have identified water stress responsive genes in loblolly pine roots using EST libraries using roots of plants that were exposed to a severe level of drought stress (-1.75Mpa) (Lorenz et al., 2006).

Consecutive cycles of drought stress can result in drought acclimation depending on the level of stress, as we observed in loblolly pine seedlings under mild stress conditions (Watkinson et al., 2003). We showed that specific expression patterns of genes encoding heat shock proteins (HSPs) are correlated with photosynthetic acclimation under mild drought stress.

The main known function of HSPs is protein folding and association with activation, processing or trafficking of signaling proteins (Vierling, 1991; Pratt et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2004). HSPs are ubiquitous in the cell, being found in all subcellular locations. HSP proteins are classified according to their molecular size and are expressed constitutively or induced by stresses. The HSP90 family includes proteins from 82 to 96 kD. While other HSPs have a more general folding function, these proteins "finish" the work by activating and/or transferring the protein to their place of function (Pratt et al., 2001). In plants a few target proteins have been identified such as: R proteins that initiate the hypersensitive response (Hubert et al., 2003; Takahashi et al., 2003) and clavata proteins, that regulate the shoot and floral meristem (Ishiguro et al., 2002).

The HSP70 family includes proteins from 68 to 110kD. HSP70s have been found in all subcellular locations in Arabidopsis (Lin et al., 2001). A HSP70 belonging to the HSP100 subfamily has been shown to be essential for thermotolerance (Hong and Vierling, 2000; Queitsch et al., 2000) but not for development in the absence of stress (Hong and Vierling, 2001). Overexpression of a cytosolic HSP70 in tobacco (Cho and Hong, 2006) and of a soybean ER resident HSP70 (BIP) in tobacco (Alvim et al., 2001) conferred drought tolerance. sHSPs, with a size between 15-30kD, do not have a known specific folding role but it has been shown that associated with HSP70, they can help in the repair of a denaturated protein (Lee and Vierling, 2000). The regulated expression during seed development of Arabdiopsis sHSP17.4 suggested a protective role in dessication tolerance (Wehmeyer and Vierling, 2000) and overexpression of a tomato mitochondrial sHSP in tobacco increased thermotolerance (Sanmiya et al., 2004). Therefore, there is some knowledge of the possible role of these proteins during stress responses, but little is known about their role and mode of action during drought stress responses and in gymnosperms.

In this study, we investigated the role of heat shock proteins during photosynthetic acclimation and different levels of drought stress in loblolly pine seedlings. For this we used gene expression methods (microarrays and Real Time PCR) to determine the expression of HSPs that belong to the HSP70, HSP90, and sHSPs families. We identified a pine homolog to GRP94 (ER localized HSP90) associated with photosynthetic acclimation. We also found that the expression of homologs to cytosolic HSP70 families are regulated depending on the level of drought stress.

2.2. Materials and methods

2.2.1. Plant material and drought stress application

Rooted cuttings of *Pinus taeda* from the Atlantic Coastal Plain were propagated clonally by Dr. Barry Goldfarb at North Carolina State University (NCSU). Trees were grown in pots in a greenhouse with supplemental lighting to maintain 16 h day-length and with the temperature controlled to 24°C during the day and 18°C at night. Plants were watered as needed and fertilized once a week with half strength Hoagland's solution. Trees were subjected to three cycles of either mild or severe drought stress, or one cycle of mild stress, followed by two cycles of severe stress (progressive treatment). Mild stress was defined by a pre-dawn water potential of -1.0 Mpa) and severe stress by a water potential of -1.7 Mpa. Water potential was measured using a Plant Water Status Console (Soilmoisture, Santa Barbara, CA). Once stressed plants had reached the desired

water potential, net photosynthesis measurements were taken and the plants were rewatered. Photosynthesis was measured at light saturation on a Li-Cor 6400 (LICOR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE). Needles and roots were harvested at different points throughout the drying cycle (-0.4 and -0.7 Mpa for mild and -0.6 and -1.2 in severe), at the point of maximum stress (-10 for mild or -17 Mpa for severe), and 24 h after rewatering from both treated and well-watered, control seedlings (Figure 1). At each sampling time, needles were taken from two different seedlings.

2.2.2. Microarrays

926 ESTs were selected from the NCSU NSF Pine Genome collection (http://pinetree.ccgb.umn.edu/). The selection was based on association of the homologous genes with stress responses in *A. thaliana*. An algorithm implemented by Shukla (Shukla, 2004) was used to search for pine ESTs that had the best homology to these identified *A. thaliana* genes. Using pine contigs, in this instance, the algorithm chooses the closest homolog and then chooses the EST that is closer to the 3'UTR and has a low cross hybridization score. (https://bioinformatics.cs.vt.edu/genesieve/). The set of ESTs represents: core metabolism, stress responsive genes, including those from the phenylpropanoid and polyamine pathways and other secondary metabolites.

Clone amplification, cleaning, and spotting were performed according to Stasolla et al. (2003). Each clone was replicated 4 times on the array and printed with at least two pins. Spiking controls of non-plant cDNAs were also included to normalize laser focus and intensity between channels across hybridizations.

2.2.3. RNA extraction and hybridization

RNA was extracted from needles and roots according to Watkinson et al. (2003). Each pair of RNAs (treated versus control at each time point) were reverse transcribed and labeled with Cy3 and Cy5 dyes (Stasolla et al., 2003). Each comparison was reciprocally labeled to control any dye effect. The hybridizations were carried out according to Stasolla et al. (2003). A modified loop design (Kerr and Churchill, 2001)

was used to compare between treated and control samples, resulting in a total of 16 replicate spots per treatment

2.2.4. Real Time PCR

Two step real time PCR was performed. Total RNA was DNAse treated with the DNAfree kit (Ambion, Austin, TX) after cleaning, 2µg of RNA were reverse transcribed using Superscript II (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA).

Real time PCR was performed with 5 μ l of cDNA (from a 20ng/ μ L dilution) using SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) in a 25 μ l reaction volume on an ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems), with 0.5 μ M primer final concentration and the following cycling steps: initial denaturation for 10 min at 94°C, followed by 34 cycles with 15 sec 94°C, 30 sec 56°C, and 30 sec at 72°C, and a 20 min gradient from 60 to 90°C to obtain a melting curve. The data was collected at the extension step (72°C). Absolute quantification was carried out using a 10 fold dilution of the plasmids containing the *P. taeda* sequences in concentration between 10 pg to 0.1 fg.

The adenosine kinase gene (AK), the expression of which was shown previously to remain unchanged during drought stress in loblolly (Watkinson et al., 2003) was used for normalization (EST NXSI 116 A09, Forward Primer (FP) **'**5-5'-GTGAGTTCCAGTTGCCTTTG-3', Reverse Primer (RP) GGGTGGGAGACTGACAATG-3'). At least three technical repeats per biological repeat were analyzed. Deviations from threshold values were less than 0.5 cycle for technical replicates and less than 1 cycle for biological replicates. The following genes were amplified: GRP94, BIP, PDI, HSC70-1, HSC 70-3, HSC70-5, DnaJ, sHSP, chlsHSP, mtsHSP, Lea2 and Lea3 (Table 2-1). All primers pairs were tested for dimer formation before using them with the actual samples.

		Arabidopsis	Subcellular		
Gene Name	Pine EST	homolog	location	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
GRP94	NXNV_149_E10	At4g24190	ER	5'-TGGAGGGTTGTTGGTTAGAG-3'	5'-AGGGACATCTAGCACACACC-3'
BIP	NXNV_158_D06	At1g09080	ER	5'-TGGGTGTTTTTCTAATTG-3'	5'TCATCCTACACTATTTGC-3'
PDI	NXCI_042_G05	At1g21750	ER	5'-TTTACCTTCTTTCAAGTGGC-3'	5'-CTAATGGCAAAAGCGTTG-3'
DnaJ	NXNV_132_E06	At3g44110	Cyt	5'-GGCACGAGAGACAACTTTG-3'	5'-TGTTGCTGCTTCCTTCTTAG-3'
HSC70-3	NXSI_117_C08	At3g12580	Cyt	5'- GTCCCAAGATCGAGGAAGTG-3'	5'-CACGCAGGAGGTGATGAAG-3'
HSC70-1	ST17D07	At5g02500	Cyt	5'-TATTCCTGCGTTGGGGTGTGGC-3'	5'-CTCCAATGAGTCGCTCAGTATC-3'
HSC70-5	NXNV_123_C06	At5g09590	Mit	5'-GTTATGACTGTTGACTCTGG-3'	5'-TGGACCATTTGAATAAGG-3'
Lea2	ST14D07	no homolog	Cyt	5'-GTTTGCCCCTGAGGAAGC-3'	5'-CTGTGCGTGCGGTGAAG-3'
Lea3	PC08E04	At1g52690	Cyt	5'-GCATTACCGTTGAAGCAGAG-3'	5'-CTTGTATTGTTCCGCCATCG-3'
chlsHSP	NXLV_066_C03	At4g27670	Chl	5'-ATGTGAAGGTCTCTGTGGTGGAGG-3'	5'-GTATGGTATCTGATGTGCGAAGGC-3'
mtsHSP	NXSI_067_H12	At4g25200	Mit	5'-AACAGAAATACAGTAGCCGCATCG-3'	5'-AGCACGCCATTCTTCATCTG-3'
sHSP	ST40F04	At1g53540	Cyt	5'-CGAAGCATTCACACATCTGG-3'	5'-AGTATTGGCTACGGCAGAAG-3'

Table 2-1 List of genes and primers used for real time PCR amplification.

2.2.5. Cloning of pine GRP94 cDNA

Primers were designed using the loblolly contig for the GRP94 homolog in TIGR (TC73014, FP: 5'-GGACCGATACAATGTGCC-3', RP: 5'-AACCCTCCAAAATTCCTG-3'). A PCR reaction usinc cDNA as template was performed using 5µL of cDNA (from a 20ng/µL dilution) and GoTaq green master mix (Promega, Madison, WI) in a 20 µLs reaction volume with 0.5 µM final primer concentration. The cycle steps where: denaturation for 3 min at 94°C, followed by 34 cycles of 30 sec at 94°C, 30 sec at 56°C and 1min 30 sec at 72°C. The 5'UTR region was obtained using the 5'-full RACE Core Set (Takara, Madison, WI).

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Some preconditioning for severe stress occurs after exposure to a mild stress

Figure 2-1 shows the effect of different levels of drought stress on photosynthesis. After one cycle of mild drought stress (-0.8 MPa aprox.) the trees "acclimated" and photosynthesis in treated trees was similar to control trees, as we observed previously (Watkinson et al., 2003).

In the 2nd cycle of the progressive experiment, which experienced a level of stress similar to the 2nd cycle of the severe treatment, photosynthesis was reduced compared to the control treatment but it was not completely inhibited as we observed for plants subjected to severe stress with no prior mild (preconditioning) drought stress (-0.20±0.03 μ molCO₂/m²/s , -0.28±0.012 μ molCO₂/m²/s and -0.28±0.013 μ molCO₂/m²/s for cycles 1, 2, and 3 respectively). Therefore, even though photosynthesis did not recover completely,



exposure to a mild level of drought resulted in the maintenance of a minimum level of photosynthesis.

Figure 2-1 Effects of drought stress on water potential and photosynthesis.

Physiology results after application of drought stress in the mild treatment (a) and the progressive treatment (b). Net photosynthesis data (P.S) are represented as columns and water potential in lines. Point A: Beginning of the stress, B: 50% of initial water potential, C: maximum stress (-0.8 to -1.0 Mpa for mild stress and -1.6 to -1.8 Mpa for severe stress), D: 24 hours after rewatering (recovery). Arrows show the time of harvest of needles and roots.

2.3.2. Effects of preconditioning on gene expression

In order to see which genes are involved in preconditioning to drought stress a microarray experiment was carried out with needle samples from the second cycle of the progressive treatment and the severe treatment (Table 2-2).

We previously showed differential expression of specific members of individual HSP families in acclimation to drought stress at the end of the growing season (Watkinson et al., 2003). Our current data (Table 2-2) shows specific expression associated with the time of maximum stress (point c) and the time of recovery (point d). Two cytosolic members of the HSP70 family, HSC70-1, and HSC70-3, show up – regulation at the point of maximum stress, while an homolog to mitochondrial mtHSC70-2(HSC70-5) shows up-regulation at recovery (point D).

Members of the HSP90 gene family, the ER homolog (GRP94) and a cytosolic member (HSP90-1) showed up-regulation at recovery (point D) in the progressive treatment, while in the severe treatment a different HSP90 (HSP81-2) is up-regulated.

				Progressive 2			Se	vere	2
Arabidopsis GI	Pine ID	Annotation	Class	ΡВ	PC	PD	SB	SC	SD
At5g56030	NXNV_066_E07	HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN 81-2 (HSP81-2)	HSP90	0	0	0	0	0	+
At5g16650	NXPV_019_C12	DNAJ-like heatshock protein	HSP40	0	0	0	0	0	+
At4g25200	NXSI_067_H12	Arabidopsis mitochondrion-localized sHSP protein (AtHSP23.6-mito) sH		0	0	0	0	0	+
At2g29960	ST38H03	eptidyl proline isomerase		0	0	0	0	0	+
At4g38740	ST37H09	cyclophilin (CYP2)	Ppiase	NA	0	0	NA	-	+
At1g22400	NXCI_054_F12	UDP-glucose glucosyltransferase	UDP-g	NA	0	0	NA	0	+
At5g59720	NXLV_049_G11	low-molecular-weight heat shock protein - like		0	0	0	0	-	+
At2g20560	NXLV_073_C11	DnaJ homolog subfamily B member 5	HSP40	0	0	0	+	-	+
At5g64350	ST33E05	FKBP-type peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase, putative	Ppiase	0	-	0	+	0	0
At1g78270	NXCI_081_H03	UDP-glucose glucosyltransferase		NA	0	+	NA	0	0
At4g24190	NXNV_149_E10	clavata formation protein, putative nearly identical to SHEPHERD	HSP90	0	0	+	0	0	-
At5g09590	NXNV_123_C06	HEAT SHOCK 70 KDA PROTEIN, MITOCHONDRIAL	HSP70	0	0	+	0	0	0
At3g44110	NXNV_132_E06	heat shock protein-like protein dnaJ protein homolog Atj3	HSP40	0	0	+	0	0	0
At5g03160	NXRV_022_C02	DNAJ heat shock N-terminal domain-containing protein, similar to P58	HSP40	0	0	+	0	0	0
At1g53540	NXSI_041_C09	heat shock protein 17	sHSP	0	-	+	0	0	-
At5g52640	NXSI_011_G01	heat shock protein 90-1	HSP90	0	-	+	0	0	0
At5g49910	NXCI_075_D08	heat shock protein 70 / HSP70 (HSC70-7)	HSP70	0	-	+	-	+	-
At5g02500	ST17D07	heat shock cognate 70 kDa protein 1 (HSC70-1)	HSP70	0	+	+	-	+	0
At4g27670	NXLV_066_C03	mitochondrial heat shock 22 kd protein-like	sHSP	0	+	+	0	0	0
At3g12580	NXSI_117_C08	dnaK-type molecular chaperone hsc70.3	HSP70	0	+	0	0	0	-

Table 2-2 Effects of exposure to drought on gene responses in protection and repair categories in needles as reflected in microarray data

Gene expression data from microarray analysis in pine needles. PB or SB: point B (halfway through the stress), PC or SC: point C (Maximum stress), PD or SD: point D (24 hours after watering). Up-regulated genes are highlighted in green and down-regulated genes in red. Genes that are in bold were amplified with real time PCR to validate the microarray data.

2.3.3. Some HSPs are associated with photosynthesis preconditioning

Real time PCR was performed for some HSP genes (Table 2-1) that were upregulated according to the microarray data and/or have been shown to be up-regulated during drought stresses in other plants.

From those results the expression of two genes were found to be associated with acclimation, ER HSP90 (GRP94) and ER PDI (Figure 2-2).

GRP94 and HSP70-1 were up-regulated only at the first cycle of severe stress, but after that their expression levels are lower (Figure 2-3). HSP70-1 is a homolog to an arabidopsis cytosolic member (At5g02500) in the HSP70 family.







Real time PCR results from needles cDNA, in cases were acclimation occurred: 2nd and 3rd cycle of mild treatment (a) and 2nd and 3rd cycle of progressive treatment (b). a) M1C, M2C, and M3C are from samples taken at the maximum stress point of the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle of respectively. M1D, M2D, and M3D are from samples taken at the "recovery" point (24 hours after watering) of the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively. b) P1C, P2C, and P3C are from samples taken at maximum stress point at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively. P1D, P2D, and P3D are from samples taken 24 hours after watering at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively.



Figure 2-3 Relative expression of protection and repair genes that are highly induced at a severe drought stress but then are unchanged

Real time PCR results from needles cDNA during severe treatment. S1C, S2C, and S3C are from samples taken at maximum stress point of the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively. S1D, S2D, and S3D are from samples taken 24 hours after watering of the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively.

2.3.4. Other members of HSP families increase their expression after cycles of severe stress

Real time PCR results from severe treated samples showed an increased expression of mitochondrial HSP70 and sHSP, and BIP3 at each point of maximum stress (Figure 2-4).



Figure 2-4 Relative expression of genes that increase their expression during each cycle of severe stress at the maximum stress point

Real time PCR results from needles cDNA samples obtained during severe treatment that increase their expression after each cycle of stress. S1C, S2C, and S3C are from samples taken at maximum stress point at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively. S1D, S2D, and S3D are from samples taken 24 hours after watering at the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd cycle respectively. HSP70-10 and sHSP25.3 gene products localize to the mitochondria and BIP3 to the ER.

2.3.5. Pine GRP94 is closely related to the GRP94 from a resurrection plant

Since GRP94 showed up-regulation during the recovery of plants that showed photosynthetic acclimation, we obtained the full length cDNA sequence of this gene by doing PCR with primers based on the ESTs in the TIGR database. The translated sequence was compared with other plant ERHSP90 proteins using Clustal W (Higgins et al., 1996) (Figure 2-5). The pine protein is very similar to the other plant proteins: 76.3% similarity to the Arabidopsis ERHSP90, 77.7% to Barrel Clover, 78.9% to Cottowood, 79.2% to Maize, 79.2% to Rice and 80.6% to *X. viscosa*. The residues that are known to be involved in ATP binding and hydrolysis (Huai et al., 2005) are identical (Figure 2-5) among the 8 plant proteins and human GRP94 (data not shown), which suggest that pine ERHSP90 is an ATPase. Pine ERHSP90 is more closely related to the ERHSP90 *X. viscosa* (Figure 2-6) which has been shown to be upregulated during dehydration
(increasing its expression from 50% to 7% RWC) and during rehydration (34%, 79% and 93% RWC) in *X. viscosa* (Walford et al 2004).

The region that is most dissimilar in pine with respect to the other proteins is the C-terminal which is important for protein dimerization and contains the MEEVD domain for interaction with co-chaperones that contain the tetratricopeptide repeat domain (TPR) like cyclophilins (Young et al., 1998). However, the MEEVD domain has not been found in any ER resident HSP90s (Caplan, 2003) and Meunier et al. (2002) has found that GRP94 forms a large multichaperone complex that includes a luminal cyclophilin B that does not have a TPR domain. The co-chaperone interacting domains for GRP94 have not been identified yet.

Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	NMERTLUS. VIPLESLL. F LADOGORKI HAMAES. SOD. VIDPEVLEKI GG HOGUSTOSDVVHLESESMISKKI RAMAEKFE GALEVEL MOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNT. PETLLLISL. L LADOGORFGAMAEGH. SOEIV. OPPRVEEKI GG HOGUSTOSDVVHLESESMISKKI RAMAEKFE GALEVELMOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNT. PEVLILLEL. SL ISDOGORFGAMAEGH. SOEIV. OPPRVEEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVVHLESESI SKRIKTARTAEKFE GALEVELMOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNT. SESILLILLIL. T LEPPARKIGVAADE. SOSIV. OPPRVEEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVVHLESESI SKRIKTARTAEKFE GALEVELMOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNME. SSALLLILLIL. T LEPPARKIGVAADE. SOSIV. OPPRVEEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVVHLESESI SKRIKTARTAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNME. SSALLLILLIL. T LEPPARKIGVAADE. TIELV. OPPRVEEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI SKRIKTARSAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNME. SSALLLILLIL. T LEPPARKIGVAADE. TIELV. OPPRVEEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI SKRIKTARSAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI FLELI SOM MERNME. SSALLLILLIL. T LEPPARKIGVAADE SODIA. MERVERKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI SKRIKTARSAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI I HISL MERNME. SSALLLILLIL. T LEPARKIGVANDE SODIA. MERVERKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI SKRIKTARSAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI I HISL MERNME. I PEVLELLIL. T LEPARKIGVANDE SODIA. MERVERKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI SKRIKTARSAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI I HISL MERNME. I PEVLELLIL. T LEPARKIGVANDE SODIA. SEPRVEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASI MERKI RASAEKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VEHKDI I HISL MERVEN. I PEVLELLIL. T VINGISKI HAMAESA DASEV. OPPRVEKKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASIMIKANI, RAMAKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VINKU FLELI SA MERVEN. I PEVLENKI, RAMAESA DASEV. OPPRVEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASIMIKANI, RAMAKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VINKU FLELI SA MERVEN. VETALFLILI. T VINGISKI HAMAESA DASEV. OPPRVEKI GA. VINGISTOSDVARKEASIMIKANI, RAMAKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VINKU FLELI SA MERVEN. VETALFLILI. T VINGISKI HAMAESA. PADENA. SPRVEKUGU GGAI FDALSTOSDVARKEASIMIKANI, RAMAKFE GALEVEN MOI I HISL VINKU FLELI SAK	111 112 112 112 113 112 116 114
Arabidopsis Barrel, Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	EDALDKIRFLALTDRDVLGEGTARLEIGIKLDKARKILSINDAGIN KEDILIPALGTIAKSGTSAFVEKMGSSDLNIIGGRGVGTSAFLVADVIEVISKANDGS DolldkirflStordingegotarleigikldkarkilsindagige om kedilipalgtipalgti GolldkirflStorevlgegotakleigikldkekkilsindagige om kedilipalgtip	231 232 232 233 233 232 236 234
Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	AVSEDTWNEPLOROTEIR LIKLBOLAGE VLEESKLVELVERVSEFINFPISLMASKEVETEVEVEED. 55.0 E. T. ETTTEE-KEEDAGE DEDEKKOKTKUVETUVEMEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN KEELSEVEEVELVELVERVSEFINFPISLMASKEVDEVED. 55.0 EDDT. 5. PRIES. EDEDAGK. BEDEKKOKTKUVETUVEMEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN KEELSEVLEENLKOLVIKVSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVADED ESS EDDT. 5. PRIES. EDEDAGK. BEDEKKOKTKUVETUVEMEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HEREAGEVLEENLKOLVIKVSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVADED ESS EDTT. 5. PRIES. EDEDAGK. BEDEKKOKTKUVETUVEMEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HEREAGEVLEENLKOLVIKVSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVADED ETE ES. D.S. TPTT. EE. TE DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED KLIKELVIKVSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVADED. ETE ES. SPEST. ES. SPEST. SE SEE K. D. DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED KUNKSSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVADED. ETE ES. SPEST. SE SEE K. D. DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED KUNKSSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVEDEVADED. ETE ES. SPEST. SE SE K K. DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED KUNKSSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVEDEVADED. ETE ES. SPEST. BET. DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED KUNKSSEFINFPISLWASKEVDEVEDEVADED. ESSEE K. S. ESS. SE E DEC DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED SENT. BET. SE SEGT. E D. S. PRIT. EE. FE DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AISEDTWNEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEED SENT. BET. SE SEGT. E DESSEE EE ESS. SE E E DEKKOKTKUVETUTEWEL AVSEDTENEPLOROTEIR IN HERDEAKEVLEET SE SEGT. E ESS. SE	340 344 339 342 344 343 343
Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	L NOVKAI W. R SPREVT E E YTKFYNS. S ^{KD} FT DE KPMANSKF NE GOVEFKAU LYVPFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PRYLSFLKGU VSOTLPLNVSREML GO L NOVKAI W. RNPREVT E EYTKFYNSLAK PFSDERF L NOVKAI W. RNPREVT E EYTKFYNSLAK DFSDERF L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YTKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PANSKF TAE GOVEFKAU LYVPFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL SGLYDET LFLNVSREML GO L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PANSKFT TAE GOVEFKAU LYVPFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PANSKFT TAE GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KGU VSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PANSKFT TAE GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KGU VSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PANSKFT AE GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKAML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KGU VSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NOVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFGDDR PLANSKEN HAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSNKSML KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KGU VSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E YSKFYNSLAK DFSEBER MANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSM KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KGU VSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E SKFYRSLAK FSEEKEL ANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSKI KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSFL KU DSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E SKFYRSLAK FSEEKEL ANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSKI KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSTE MUS DSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E SKFYRSLAK FSEEKEL ANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSKI KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSTE MUS DSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E SKFYRSLAK FSEEKEL ANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSKI KLYVRRYFI SDEFDEL PKYLSTE MUS DSOTL PLNVSREML GO L NDVKAI W. RSPREVT E SKFYR SLAK FSEEKEL ANSKFFAR GOVEFKAU LFI PFKAPHOL VE SYNSKSKI KLYVRRYFI SDEFEEFL L NYLSF	460 464 459 462 464 463 461
Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEIHD- DENKDVEKGG E- NDEKKGQYTKFWNEFGKSVKLGI I EDAANRNRLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI KRMKKGRDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RRLAEEDPDESTD- RENKE- ETSS. DVD- EKKGQYTKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAANRNRLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKAGRDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RRLAEEDPDESTD- KENKEVISES-D-D- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNNRLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKAGRDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- KDKTG- EKSS- EME- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDEYI SRMKAGRDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- KDKTG- EKSS- EME- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDEYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- KDKTG- EKSS- EME- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDEYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- KERDVESSDE- N- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- NERTOVESSDE- N- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYSD- NERTOVESSDE- N- EKKGQYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYD- NERTOVESSDE- N- EKKGYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNRNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKLAEEDPDEYD- NE HERGYAESSDE- N- EKKGYAKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNNNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKI ADEBPDEYD- SD-KOSS - FABC N- EKKGYKYKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNNNLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMKSORDIFYI TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKI ADEBPGYD S SDA FABC- SSC - FBDTEKKGKYVKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDAYNNHLAKLLRFETTKSDG- KLTSLDQYI SRMK BOKDI YYT TGSSK NSSLKTI KKKLI RKALDM RKI ADEBPGYD SDAKGYDAESES- EPDTEKKGKYVKFWNEFGKSI KLGI I EDASNRNHLAKLLRFESTKSG- KLTSLDQYI SRMK BOKDI YYT TGSSK	576 579 579 574 577 580 576 578
Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	EQLEKSPFLERLIKKGYEVIFFTDPVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKKFQNVSKEGLKVGKDSKDKELKEAFKELTKWWKGNLASENVDDVKISNELADTPCVVVTSKFGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQLENSFFLERLKKKGYEVIFFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKKFQNVSKEGLKGKDSKDKELKESFKLTKWWKGNLASENVDVKISNELADTPCIVVTSKFGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQUEKSFFLERLKKKGYEVIFFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKFFQNVSKEGLKGKDSKLKELKESFKLTDWWKALDERNVDVKISNELADTFCIVVTSKFGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQLEKSFFLERLKKKGYEVIFFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKFFQNVSKEGLKGKDSKLKELKESFKLTDWWKALDERNVDVKISNELADTFCIVVTSKFGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQLEKSFFLERLTKKNYEVIFFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKFFQNVSKEGLKIGKDSKLKELKESFKLTDWWKALDERNVDVKISNELHDTFCVVVTSKFGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQLEKSFFLERLTKKNYEVIFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKFFQNVSKEGLKIGKDSKLKELKESFKLTDWWKALDERNVDSVKISNELHDTFCVVTSKYGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA EQLEKSFFLERLTKKNYEVIFTDVDEYLMQYLMDYEDKFFQNVSKEGLKIGKDSKLKELKESFKLTDWWKALDERNVDSVKISNELHDTFCVVTSKYGWSANNERIMDSTLSDA	696 699 694 697 697 699 696 698
Arabidopsis Barrel Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	NKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELEKDRIÄSDPEDESVKETAQLMYGTALIESGFILTDPKDFAARIYNSVKSGLNISPDA. VADEEIEAÄEE PET-S. EATETKSDDLÄG. G. LN NKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERRYVKNPEDESVKGTAQLMYGTALIESGFILTDPKDFAARIYNSVKSGLNISPDATV. EES.DETEVEVESETKSDDLÄG. G. LN NKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERRYVKNPEDESVKGTAQLMYGTALIMESGFILDDPKDFASRIYDSVKSLSISPDATV. EES.DETEVEVESETKSDLÄG. G. LN SKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERVYVNDPEDESVKLTAKLIYGTALMESGFILDDPKDFASRIYDSVKSLSISPDAAV. EES.DETEVEVE. AETK SKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERVYVDPDESVKLTAKLIYGTALMESGFILDDPKPFASSIYKSVKSLSISPDAAV. EES.DEAEEODEVEE.K.ES.N.IK SKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERVYVDPDESVKLTAKLIYGTALMESGFDLDDPKPFASSIYKSVKSLSISPDAAV. EES.DEAEEODEVEE.K.ES.N.IK SKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERVYVDPDESVKLTAKLIYGTALMESGFDLDDPKPFASSIYKSVKSLNISPDAAV. EES.DEAEEODEVEE.K.ES.N.IK SKGAYMMGKRVLEINPRMPIIKELERVYVDPDESVKLTAKLIYGTALMESGFDLDDPKPFATSIYSVKSLNISPDAKV. EES.DEAEEODEVE.K.ES.N.IK	806 803 803 796 799 798 798 814
Arabidopsis Barrel_Clover Cottonwood Maize Rice Tomato X_viscosa Pine	I E A E MEQO E - E N- TREEL E A D E MADE O D - D - MAEL E A E MEDE LITERS VACEL E S E ME ST. D - KAEL E S E MEST. D - KAEL E S E MEST. D - KAEL E S E MEDE S - E - KAEL E S E MEDE S - E - KAEL E TIEDAWEEQYE. E S MAEL	823 818 823 808 812 812 812 812 834

Figure 2-5 Protein alignment of ER HSP90 from pine with related plant ERHSP90s.

The conserved residues are shaded in yellow. The black boxes indicate the HSP90 family signature (NKDIL) and the ER retention signal (KDEL). The red boxes indicate the residues that are required for ATP binding and hydrolysis: E109, N113, D116, D157, M162, N170, V200, G201, G202, T249, K371 in the pine sequence. The GenBank accession numbers for the sequences are: Q8SB39 for rice (*O. sativa*) and AAN34791 for *X. viscosa*. For maize (*Z. mays*) the translation of the GenBank sequence AY103537 was used. The cottonwood (*P. trichocarpa*) sequence was obtained from the Poplar genome web page (http://genome.jgi-psf.org/Poptr1/Poptr1.home.html) and the ID is

ESTEXT_FGENESH1_PM_V1.C_LG_V0560. The Arabidopsis sequence was obtained from the Arabidopsis Genome web page (<u>www.arabidopsis.org</u>) and the gene ID is At4g24190. The Barrel Clover sequence was obtained from the Gene Index Project Database

(http://compbio.dfci.harvard.edu/tgi/plant.html) and the ID is TC94521_framefinder ORF.



Figure 2-6 Phenogram of plant ER resident HSP90

The alignment used to generate the phenogram is the same as is shown in Figure 2.5.

2.4. Discussion

2.4.1. Possible role of heat shock proteins in preconditioning to drought

Exposure to a mild drought stress enabled the plant to "condition", or perform better when exposed to a second cycle of more severe stress. We have observed that certain HSPs are up-regulated during recovery when photosynthetic acclimation occurs e.g. HSC70-1 and HSC70-3. These genes also showed up-regulation at maximum stress during the first cycle under mild stress conditions (data not shown). Overexpression of HSC70-1 in Arabidopsis plants resulted in increased thermotolerance (Sung and Guy, 2003). Silencing of the gene did not produce viable plants illustrating the importance of HSC70-1 under stress and normal conditions (Sun and Guy, 2003). The Arabidopsis homologs of HSC70-1 and HSC70-3 are induced after virus infection and/or overexpression of proteins in the cytosol. This suggested that these genes show a general response to the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the cytosol, an event similar to the unfolded protein response in the ER (Aparicio et al., 2005). Drought stress could also cause protein accumulation and these genes might be up-regulated in pine for this reason.

A recent study in *N. tabacum* showed that over-expression of an homolog to HSC70-3 (NtHSP70-1) confers drought-stress tolerance in 3 week old tobacco seedlings (Cho and Hong, 2006). Moreover, plants overexpressing the gene were able to maintain a lower water potential compared to the empty vector and antisense plants. The over-expressing plants experienced less stress, with a strong correlation between water content and the amount of NtHSP70-1, suggesting a role in regulating water flux. More studies

will be needed to find the specific mechanism by which these genes confer drought tolerance. HSP70-1 also showed up-regulation at maximum stress in the first cycle of the severe treatment (Figure 2-3.) and then it did not show more expression. This differential response of the same gene might imply different roles at different levels of stress. Since severe levels of drought stress causes higher oxidation and therefore more protein damage, cytosolic pine HSC70-1 might have a protein folding/repair function, while during recovery after a mild stress it might have a water flux regulator role.

The other genes that were up-regulated when photosynthetic acclimation occurred were pine homologs to GRP94 and PDI, which are part of the unfolded protein response and have been shown to be up-regulated after tunicamycin treatment (Martinez and Chrispeels, 2003; Kamauchi et al., 2005). It has been shown that homologs to these genes in mammalian systems are part of a protein complex (Meunier et al., 2002) that binds to nascent proteins. The pine homologs of GRP94 and PDI might be part of a complex involved in the protection/repair/folding of proteins during mild stress, which could help the plant cope with subsequent stress cycles.

2.4.2. Possible role of heat shock proteins under severe drought stress conditions

Pine mitochondrial HSPs such as mitochondrial HSP70 and mitochondrial sHSP (Figure 2-4) seem to have a role during high levels of stress, since their expression increased at each cycle of severe stress. During severe stress, when the levels of ROS are higher (Selote et al., 2004), the increased expression of mitochondrial HSP70 might be due to an increase in refolding/transport of antioxidant proteins to the mitochondria. The mitochondrial sHSP is homolog to the mitochondrial tomato sHSP23.6 that upon overexpression confers thermotolerance to tobacco plants (Sanmiya et al., 2004). Moreover, it has been shown that mitochondrial sHSP protects the NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase complex during heat stress in plants (Downs and Heckathorn, 1998). Since heat stress also causes ROS production in the mitochondrion (Polla et al., 1996) the increased expression at each cycle of this gene might be due to an increased need of protection of this complex. Therefore, these genes may help to protect the mitochondrion reduce, repair, or protect against oxidation damage.

The pine BIP3 that also showed gradual up-regulation after each cycle of severe stress is closely related to a soybean BIP3 that, when overexpressed in tobacco, conferred tolerance against severe levels of drought (Alvim et al., 2001). Since BIP3 is responsive to tunicamycin which induces accumulation of proteins and activates the unfolded protein response (Koizumi, 1996), the increasing expression of this gene might be related to an increased accumulation of unfolded protein due to the severe drought stress applied.

2.4.3. Importance of pine GRP94 during drought stress responses

Pine GRP94 was one of the genes that showed up-regulation in both treatments where photosynthetic acclimation occurred. This protein is part of the unfolded protein response in mammalian and plant cells. Like the other members of the HSP90 family it has a "maturation" role for important proteins. In mammalian cells among the target proteins that GRP94 regulates are proteins that are transported to the cell surface: Tolllike receptors, which activate immune cell responses; some integrins (Randow and Seed, 2001); or proteins that are secreted such as IgGs (immunoglobulin chains) (Melnick et al., 1994). In Arabidopsis one of the targets that has been identified is a clavata protein, which regulates meristem development (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Pine GRP94 is more similar to the X. viscosa GRP94 protein than to the Arabidopsis protein. X. viscosa GRP94 is responsive to water stress (from 74% to 7% RWC) and to rehydration (34% to 93% RWC). It is also responsive to heat and to salt stress, stresses that share protein denaturation effects. It did not show response to cold stress and high light (Walford et al., 2004). I propose that pine GRP94 has a similar role under drought stress, protection/repair of denaturated proteins. But since HSP90s target specific proteins, GRP94 may repair specific proteins that help to protect the photosynthetic machinery. Protein interaction experiments could help find the target proteins of this gene.

Chapter 3 Combinatorial Analysis of Cis-elements and Coregulated Genes of *A. thaliana* Heat Shock Protein 90 Genes

3.1. Introduction

The binding of transcription factors to promoter regions controls gene expression. The binding sequence of these cis-elements usually is found by mutational experiments of the candidate target region and *in vitro* or *in vivo* studies of the interaction of the protein with the DNA region. Many cis-elements in plants have been discovered using these approaches and they are available in databases such as PLACE (Higo et al., 1999) which had 469 plant elements annotated as of 01/08/07. Among the other techniques that can be used, genome wide chromatin inmunoprecipitation arrays (CHiP) allowed the analysis of the interactions of 106 transcription factors in yeast (Lee et al., 2002). In *A. thaliana,* ChiP experiments have helped in the identification of genes regulated by 15 AGAMOUS-like MADS domain proteins (Wang et al., 2002), but genome wide data is not available yet.

There are more than 1500 putative genes annotated as transcription factors in Arabidopsis (Riechmann et al., 2000). Chen et al (Chen et al., 2002) analyzed expression matrices of 402 of these transcription factors under different developmental stages and environmental stresses. Cluster analysis showed that the induction or repression of some of these transcription factors was not specific to any one stress. Before Chen et al., work (Chen et al., 2002), *AtERF1* was reported only to be responsive to ethylene and wounding (Fujimoto et al., 2000). Chen et al., (2002) showed that *AtERF1* is induced by pathogens that include bacteria, fungi, oomycetes and viruses. Further analysis showed that in fact *AtERF1* integrates the ethylene and jasmonate pathways in plant defense (Lorenzo et al., 2003). Therefore gene expression under different stresses is regulated by the combinatorial arrangement of different stress responsive transcription factors.

Different techniques have been used for the analysis of cis-elements in the promoter region. The most widely used method is the counting of a motif (enumerative method) in order to determine the overrepresentation of that motif on a group of genes.

This has been applied to the promoter regions of yeast (van Helden et al., 1998; Jensen and Knudsen, 2000); and to the 5'UTR (Hulzink et al., 2002) and promoter regions of plants (Hudson and Quail, 2003). Hudson and Quail (2003) used microarray expression data to find motifs regulated by phytochrome A from phyA mutant/wild type comparisons. They searched for one to 10 mer motifs that were shared among the genes that were not affected in the mutant genotype. The presence of the motifs in these genes was then compared with the rest of the genes included in the microarray, in order to find the ones that were overrepresented. Enumerative methods have the disadvantage of generating many false positives, due to the presence of repetitive sequences in the promoters. To overcome this problem, they considered only the motifs that were statistically overrepresented by raw counting and per promoter basis. This kind of analysis addresses the need of find binding sites for transcription factors, but does not take into account that the expression of a set of co-regulated genes depends not only on one transcription factor but the combination of many of them. The use of microarray data from cell cycle, sporulation and a variety of stresses allowed the identification new regulatory networks in yeast (Pilpel et al., 2001). First they identified all genes that contain motif pairs from a dataset of 356 motifs and then a measure of the co-expression of the group of genes (expression coherence score) was obtained using the microarray data. The pairs that gave statistically significant scores were considered synergistic combinations. Their results were correlated with previous findings but also new combination pairs, that suggested cross-talk among processes was discovered. This approach was improved later by including CHiP data to the microarray data to find specific motif pairs associated with the stages of cell cycle in yeast (Kato et al., 2004). This kind of analysis has not been done for Arabidopsis yet.

Gene expression data from microarrays for Arabidopsis is available at several database sites (NASC, TAIR). These data may be used to find co-regulated genes with more precision than using only one set of experiments. These co-regulated genes will probably share similar cis-elements in their promoter regions. However the data need to be classified by treatment or organ in order to give precise association among genes. A pair of genes might be strongly associated only in a subset of experiments but not at all under different conditions. Lee et al., (2000) used microarray data among other data

sources to build a network of yeast genes. When the microarray data were subdivided according to the kind of experiment the accuracy of its results improved significantly.

Microarray data analysis combined with promoter analysis can also be used to predict candidate interacting proteins under different stresses for large gene families. The finding of specific motifs in the upstream region of a gene could help to identify experimental conditions that could be used to associate a phenotype to a gene, on a plant that have a gene mutated with no obvious phenotype. Heat shock proteins (HSPs) in plants are an example of an unexpectedly large families compared with other organisms. These proteins are known to form complexes in order to achieve their chaperone function (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). In mammals and other eukaryotic organisms HSP90 forms heterocomplexes with other proteins, called co-chaperones, for the targeting and/or activation of target proteins such as the glucocorticoid receptor (Pratt et al., 2001). These co-chaperones are HSP70 and HSP90 organizing protein (Hop), HSP70, HSP40 (Jdomain protein), HSP70 interacting protein (HIP), immunophilin and p23 (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). Homologs of these co-chaperone genes are present in A. thaliana, and they are present in multigene families too. The HSP70 family has 18 members (Lin et al., 2001), the J-domain proteins has 89 members (Miernyk, 2001), the Hop family has 3 members (Krishna and Gloor, 2001; Zhang et al., 2003), and the immunophilin family has 52 members (He et al., 2004). These large families may have arisen as a result of adaptation of plant cells to a range of stresses since HSPs are induced not only under heat stress but also under different environmental stresses, such as drought stress. This adaptation may involve formation of specific complexes for different stresses. Therefore we will expect similar cis-element arrangements among HSP90s and their co-chaperones.

Exposure to mild drought stress can "pre-condition" the plant photosynthetic machinery, "acclimating" it to more successfully defend itself against subsequent drought stresses. We have shown that specific expression patterns of genes encoding several heat shock proteins (HSPs) are correlated with photosynthetic acclimation under mild drought stress in loblolly pine (Watkinson et al., 2003; Vasquez-Robinet, In preparation). The experiments showed that a homolog of Arabidopsis HSP90-7 was up-regulated after rehydration coincident with acclimation (Vasquez-Robinet, In preparation). HSP90-7 is a member of the HSP90 gene family that in mammals forms a complex with co-chaperones

involved in activation, processing or trafficking of signaling proteins. We found that the HSP90-7 homolog was co-expressed with candidate co-chaperones such as HSP70-3, and a HSP40 homolog.

Studies in *A. thaliana* have shown that HSP90 might have a "buffering" activity regulating the expression of genes, since HSP90 inhibition with geldanamycin generated different phenotypes, and they were ecotype specific (Queitsch et al., 2002). The HSP90 family in Arabidopsis has 7 members: one in each organelle (chloroplast and mitochondria), one in the ER, one in the cytosol, and three very similar members in endomembrane system. Studies in the hypersensitive response in plants have shown two co-chaperones for the cytosolic HSP90 (At5g56240): SGT1 and RAR1 (Takahashi et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2004)

XCisClique (Pati et al., 2006) is a new tool that integrates expression data by correlation analysis and combinatorial arrangement of groups of known cis-elements in the promoter region of co-regulated genes. The possibility of finding candidate co-chaperones for the HSP90 genes and its function under different abiotic stress situations was analyzed using *XCisClique*.

3.2. Materials and methods

3.2.1. Microarray expression data

We used microarray expression data from abiotic stress experiments posted by the AtGenExpress project in the Nottingham database (<u>http://www.arabidopsis.org.uk/</u>). Using the Affymetrix Microarray Analysis Suite 5.0 (Affymetrix Inc.) with the Affymetrix MAS 5.0 Scaling Protocol the data available have been analyzed and normalized so the mean is equal to 100. The hybridizations were carried out on the Affymetrix ATH1 Arabidopsis Genome Array. 272 slides were included, comprising two biological replicates and two tissues (shoots and roots) in a time course for control and treated plants subjected to following stresses: salt, drought, genotoxic conditions, oxidative stress, UV-B, wounding, heat, cold and osmotic stress. We have selected 5 time points that were included in all the experiments: 0:5h, 1h, 3h, 6h and 12h. Details of the experiments are available at the AtGenExpress consortium webpage http://web.uni-frankfurt.de/fb15/botanik/mcb/AFGN/atgenex.htm.

The data was processed in a tissue-wise manner since the response in roots will probably have a different regulation compared to the shoots. In order to evaluate the quality of the biological replicates the Spearman Rank Coefficient was calculated between replicates. The result of this test showed a correlation greater than 0.9 between all replicates, so the simple average was used to build the vectors for the correlation analysis matrices among genes.

3.2.2. Promoter and cis-element data

Promoter sequences for the *A. thaliana* genome were downloaded using Perl scripts that interact with the *e-utilities* interface at NCBI. This data was then stored in a local pSQL database, which includes gene, protein, annotation and references among other information.

Cis-element sequences and annotations were obtained from the PLACE website (Higo et al., 1999). The consensus sequence for the heat shock element (HSE) is NGAAN (where N is any nucleotide) arranged in continuous inverted repeats such as -NGAANNTTCNNGAAN-. Mutational analysis has indicated that the G/C bp (G and complementary C) at position one of the unit is more important than the base in the third position (Barros et al., 1992), therefore a set of 38 regular expressions that represent the different possible mutations and negative or positive strands was generated. A new HSE recently found in yeast (Yamamoto et al., 2005) was included in the cis-elements database.

3.2.3. Analysis with *XCisClique*

XCisClique (Pati et al., 2006) has been implemented in Perl. The inputs for the package are: a set of gene identifiers corresponding to a co-regulated gene set, the set of all promoters of the entire genome and a list of regulatory motifs. *XCisClique* does not use the translation start site as the starting point of the gene promoter, instead a library of existing and putative TATA-box patterns in plants have been included and the ciselements are searched upstream from the TATA-box. The regulatory motifs can be fed as

regular expressions, simple strings, or consensus sequences. The script extracts a user specified length sequence from the *promoters* database to be analyzed in both foreground (input gene set) and background (whole genome). The cis-elements are then searched in each set. In the case of palindromes that result in two occurrences for the same motif, the script recognizes this duplication and considers only one occurrence. The significance of the elements found it is assessed by two tests. A chi-square independence test is calculated per motif:

$$X^{2} = \sum_{i,j} \frac{(E_{i,j} - O_{i,j})^{2}}{E_{ij}}$$
(1)

where O and E are the observed values and expected values of a cis-element in the promoters. E and O are two contingency tables, where the columns indicate presence or absence and the rows the foreground and background data sets. Therefore E is calculated by:

$$E_{i,j} = \frac{T_i \times T_j}{N}$$
(2)

where T_i is the total across row *i* in the contingency table for observed values, T_j is the total across column *j*, and N is the total number of observed values.

The second statistical test is made for combinations of cis-elements that are significantly overrepresented in the foreground gene set. The presence or absence of a cis-element on a gene is represented in a binary matrix, where the rows represent the genes and columns the cis-elements. Then the *Apriori* algorithm (implemented in C++) finds all maximal groups of presences in this binary matrix (Agrawal, 1994). A set is called maximal when no more rows can be added without removing columns or viceversa. Each motif combination obtained with *Apriori* is called a biclique. The presence of a motif combination in a group of genes is treated as a hypergeometric distribution and a p-value is generated per biclique:

$$H_{tail}(N, C_M, n, c) = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{c} \left(\frac{C(n, c) \cdot C(N - n, C_M - c)}{C(N, C_M)} \right)$$
(3)

Where: N is the number of genes in *A. thaliana* genome, n is the set of genes in the biclique (G), M represents the motifs of a biclique, C_M is the number of genes in *A. thaliana* genome containing all the motifs in the set of motifs of biclique, and c is the number of genes in G containing all elements of M. The p-values obtained from the hypergeometric distribution that are less than 0.05 are considered significant and then FDR (false discovery rate) correction of 10% it is applied to the significant bicliques.

The gene expression data has been modeled as a gene expression vector (Vg) with 45 components (9 treatments and 5 points per treatment).

$$V_g = (e_{g,1,1}, e_{g,1,2}, e_{g,1,3}, e_{g,1,4}, e_{g,1,5}, e_{g,2,1}, \dots, e_{g,9,4}, e_{g,9,5})$$
(4)

Where, $e_{g,k,t}$ is the ratio of treated and control expressions for gene g, a particular treatment k, at time point t. Then the correlation between two gene expression vectors (Vg1 and Vg2) with ranks (rg1, rg2) is calculated using the Spearman Rank Correlation Coefficient, which is then used to calculate the correlation among the genes in a biclique. The biclique is evaluated for tightness of correlation of gene expression using the *p* value of the Sum of Absolutes Values (SAV) Statistics. Since a negative correlation may be as biologically significant as a positive correlation, we use the absolute value of ρ (vg1,vg2) to avoid unwanted cancellation of negative and positive correlations. Therefore SAV is defined as:

$$S(G) = \sum_{g_1, g_2 \in G} |\rho(g_1, g_2)|$$
(5)

then the *p*-value of an observed SAV value $P_{(S(G))}$ is calculated from a precomputed distribution of SAV for a geneset of size |G|.

The final p-value of a biclique is obtained using the p-value from the hypergeometric distribution and the SAV *p*-value from the expression analysis.

$$H_{tail}(N, C_M, n, c).p_r(S(G))$$
(6)

The statistically significant resulting bicliques (combined p-value less than 0.0025) are post processed to generate a motif match file.

The output from *XCisClique* feeds directly into the visualization tool 'MotifSee', a PHP driven web-based interface that accepts txt files with the following fields format: GeneID, Motif, Sequence, Start Position, End Position, TATA-start, TATA-end.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Significant motif combinations for the different HSP90 members

To test our hypothesis, analysis of correlation using the Spearman Coefficient was performed. After the analysis between 50 and 130 top-ranked genes with the highest correlation to each HSP90 were chosen for each HSP90. Then each set of genes was analyzed by *Xcis-clique* using the hypergeometric evaluation in order to find significant motif combinations and the number of significant combinations found per gene set and the motifs present in those combinations.

Gene Name*	At Number	Sub-celular location	Number of genes analyzed**	Significant Bicliques	Significant Bicliques including HSP90
HSP90-1	At5g52640	Cytoplasm	124 (0.60)	77	3
HSP90-4	At5g56000	Endomembrane			
		System	48 (0.55)	104	7
HSP90-5	At2g04030	Chloroplast	63 (0.69)	78	1
HSP90-6	At3g07770	Mitochondrion	79 (0.63)	47	6
HSP90-7	At4g24190	Endoplasmic			
		Reticulum	106 (0.50)	165	97

Table 3-1. Number of genes co-regulated with HSP90 family members under nine abiotic stresses

* HSP90-2 and 3 are 98% similar at the nucleotide level, i.e., are represented by the same probe in ATH1. Thus, no specific expression data were available to determine co-regulated genes [gene nomenclature: Krishna and Gloor (2001).

**Numbers in parentheses show the Spearman correlation cutoff in a set of genes.

Xcis-clique creates bicliques (sets of genes (G) that shares the same motifs (M)). Statistically significant bicliques that included an HSP90 were analyzed (Table 3-1). HSP90-2, HSP90-3 and HSP90-4 share at least 96% similarity at the protein level (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). At the nucleotide level (coding region) they also show more than 95% similarity. Therefore only the gene, HSP90-4, that has a specific probe in the Affychip was used in the analysis (At5g56000). Table 3-2 shows the significant motifs found for each group of genes corregulated with the HSP90s. Previous studies, using heat shock (HS), determined HSP90-1 as the most highly induced member of the HSP90 family (Yabe et al., 1994; Haralampidis et al., 2001). Other cytosolic family members are HS-induced to a lower degree (Milioni and Hatzopoulos, 1997). The finding of an HSE without mutations in HSP90-1 and an HSE with mutations in HSP90-4 (where the HSF might not bind as efficiently (Barros et al., 1992) may explain this response (Table 3-2).

This analysis also suggests putative motifs that might explain the response to other stresses already reported for these HSPs besides heat shock, such as water stresses (Kiyosue et al., 1994; Krishna et al., 1995), biotic stresses (Hubert et al., 2003; Takahashi et al., 2003), or embryogenesis (Prasinos et al., 2005). Analysis with XCisClique also identifies motifs for responses that have not been reported yet for HSP90 genes, such as the circadian cycle related motifs CCA1ATLHCB1 (Wang et al., 1997) and EVENINGAT (Harmer et al., 2000). These motifs together with the light responsive elements TBOXATGAPB (Chan et al., 2001), HDZIP2ATATHB2 (Ohgishi et al., 2001) are present in the organellar HSP90s (HSP90-6 and 7), which suggests that these genes might have a role in the folding/activation of proteins that regulate these responses.

Biclique ID	Gene name	Heat	Light	Circadian	ABA, Drought, Cold	GA	UPR	Biotic stress	Organ
				Cvcle					Development
Biclique11040_3_7	HSP90-1	PerfectHSE1end(1)			MYB1AT,				
Biclique4137_3_6	HSP90-4	2-mutPerHSE1-5end(1)			MYB1AT, MYB2CONSENSUSAT	GAREAT		WRKY-like(2)	
Biclique1139_11_3	HSP90-5		CCA1ATLHCB1.		MYCCONSENSUSAT, DPBFCOREDCDC3, DPECPTCOPEAT				
			TBOXATGAPB		LTREATLTI78				L1BOXATPDF1
Biclique9_12_2	9-064SH		CCA1ATLHCB1, TBOXATGAPB, HDZIP2ATATHB2,	EVENINGAT	MYB1AT, AtMyb4 (2),	GADOWNAT		WRKY-like(2), TGA1(2)	CARGCW8GAT
Biclique12054_7_8	7-064SH				MYB1AT, ABRE-like(2), DPBFCOREDCDC3		UPRMOT IFIIAT		

Table 3-2 Significant motif combinations of HSP90 isoforms and their co-regulated genes

analysis has indicated that the G/C at position one of the unit is essential for heat response (Barros et al. 1992). A set of 38 regular expressions that represent the (1) The consensus sequence for the heat shock element (HSE) is nGAAn arranged in continuous inverted repeats such as -nGAAnnTTCnnGAAn-. Mutational different possible mutations on the 2nd and 3rd nucleotide was used for the analysis. (2) Motifs curated from Mahalingam et al. 2003

At5g61170 (40s Ribosomal protein, ND), At4g18730 (60s Ribosomal protein, Cyt) At3g53550 (Hypotethical protein, ND) At1g56330 (GTP-binding Non Stress related proteins protein, ER) Artigaosatu (carreticulin, ER), Artig21750 (PDI, ER), Ar2g02810(UDP-galactose/UDP-glucose transporter, ER), At5g61790 reductase, cyt) At3g12050 (Activator of HSP90, ND), At4g30490 (AFG1-Like ATPAse family, Other Stress related At2g26150 (AtHsfA2 Nu), At3g24170 (Glutathione rotein At3g46230(ND), At1g53540(ND) sHSP At3g62600(ES) DnaJ At3g12580(ES) At3g25230 (ND) Ppiase At5g49910 (Chl) At3g12580 (Cyt), At5g02490(Cyt) At4g16660(ER) HSP70 Endomembrane System HSP90-location Mitochondrion Endoplasmic Reticulum Chloroplast Cytoplasm Gene Name HSP90-1 HSP90-5 HSP90-6 HSP90-7 **HSP90-4** Arabidopsis GI At4g24190 At5g52640 At2g04030 At3g07770 At5g56000 Biclique12054_7_8 Biclique11040_3_7 Biclique1139_11_3 Biclique4137_3_6 **Biclique ID** Biclique9_12_2

Table 3-3 HSP90 genes and their putative co-chaperones

Abbreviations in parenthesis indicate the subcellular localization predicted found in TAIR (ER: Endoplasmic reticulum, ES: Endomembrane system, Mit: Mitochondrion, Chl: Chloroplast, Cyt: Cytoplasm, ND: Not determined)

3.3.2. Putative co-chaperones

Xcis-clique discovered at least one putative co-chaperone for each of 4 HSP90 genes (Table 3-3). The putative co-chaperones had similar co-expression and shared similar motif combinations. At least two co-chaperones were found for each of HSP90-4 and HSP90-7. Co-chaperones associated with HSP90-1, HSP90-4 and HSP90-7 localize to the same cellular compartment as predicted by TargetP (Emanuelsson, 2000) for each of them.

The same agreement is not found in the case of HSP90-6 which is predicted to localize to the mitochondrion (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). Proteomic analysis of mitochnodria has localized HSP90-6 in the mitochondria (Heazlewood et al., 2004), while its putative co-chaperone is predicted to localize to the chloroplast. However, there are, as yet, no experimental data that addresses the localization of this putative co-chaperone.

We were not able to find a co-chaperone for HSP90-5. This might be because the motifs that co-regulate HSP90-5 and its co-chaperone have not yet been discovered, or that this HSP90 does not form a complex with a co-chaperone.

3.3.3. Other stress genes present in the bicliques

Other candidate genes were present in the significant bicliques, such as sHSPs for HSP90-1. Lee and Vierling (2000) have shown cooperation between sHSPs and HSP70s in the folding of heat denatured proteins *in vitro*. These genes appear together with HSP90-1 in a biclique that contains a perfect HSE. HSP90-1 is the most heat inducible HSP90 (Haralampidis et al., 2001). Therefore, it is possible that the primary role of this protein is exerted under heat stress together with HSP70s and sHSPs.

Genes that are related to the unfolded protein response, such as protein disulfide isomerase, calreticulin and calnexin (Table 3-3) appear to be co-regulated with HSP90-7. All these genes share the unfolded protein response motif UPRMOTIFIIAT found in genes up-regulated after ER stress induction by tunicamycin (Martinez and Chrispeels, 2003). The mammalian ER HSP90 complex was isolated using protein cross-linking (Meunier et al., 2002). Homologs to most genes found in that study are included in the biclique of HSP90-7 validating the results obtained with Xcis-clique (Table 3-4). Another

gene co-regulated with HSP90-7 (Table 3-3) is UDP-glucose/UDP-galactose transporter. This transporter together with calerticulin and calnexin are known parts of a second ER folding system, the calnexin/calreticuiln system. All genes have the unfolded protein response motif (UPRMOTIF IIA) (Table 3-2) in common.

3.4. Discussion

3.4.1. Functional redundancy of endoplasmic HSP90s?

The protein and nucleotide coding regions of HSP90-2, HSP90-3, and HSP90-4 show more than 90% similarity (Krishna and Gloor, 2001). However the alignment of the 5'UTR and 500bp promoter region of these genes (Figure 3-1) do not show that much similarity (less than 50% in both cases). Therefore these genes are probably a consequence of gene duplication, however the promoter region has not been conserved, suggesting that each of them is expressed under different situations, space or time. A point mutation in HSP90-2 that can impair the transduction of the hypersensitive response pathway in Arabidopsis (Hubert et al., 2003) can be explained if HSP90-3 or HSP90-4 (that are very similar) are not being expressed at that point. Therefore experimental analysis of the expression of these genes should be done to get more clues about the functional roles of these proteins. This analysis can be done by real time PCR by designing primers in the regions that are not homologous such as the 5' UTR, and quantifying the expression of these genes under abiotic and biotic stresses.





Species	06dSH	HSP70 (HSP110 subfamily)	HSP70 (DnaK subfamily)	Protein disulfide isomerase	DnaJ	Ppiase	UDP- glucosyltra nsferase	0- mannosyltr ansferase
Mammals	GRP94	GRP170	BiP	ERp72, CaBP1, PDI	ERdj3	Cyclophilin B	UDP- glucosyltrans ferase	SDF2-L1
Arabidopsis	HSP90-7 (At4g24190)	GR170 homolog (At4g16660)		ERp72 homolog (At1g21750)	ERdj3 homolog (At3g62600)			

Table 3-4 Comparison between the known members of the mammalian ER HSP90 complex and the members found for Arabidopsis by Xcis-clique

The members of the mammalian ER HSP90 complex described in Meunier et al., 2002., were compared to the whole set of genes available in the Arabidopsis database with blast and the first hits obtained are the same genes that were obtained with Xcis-clique.

3.4.2. Organellar HSP90s old and new roles

It has been shown that HSP90-5 is induced by light and that a mutation in this gene (*cr88*) affects the chloroplast development (Cao et al., 2003). This mutant is defective in other aspects of photomorphogenesis. The significant motifs found for this gene include the light responsive element (TBOXGAPB) and the L1BOXATPDF1 motif, which is found specifically in the L1 layer expressed PROTODERMAL FACTOR1 (PDF1) gene. These reported motifs can explain induction by light and the defects in photomorphogenesis found by Cao et al., (2003).

Cao et al., (2003) also has shown that this gene is induced by heat stress, but it does not confer higher thermo tolerance to the wild type if compared to the mutant genotype (*cr88*). Notably *Xcis-clique* did not find an HSE, among the significant motifs for this gene. Therefore a role in light responses for this gene is possible. No functional genomics work is yet available for HSP90-6. Besides the light and circadian cycle motifs, CARGCW8GAT, binding site of AGAMOUS LIKE 15 protein (Tang and Perry, 2003), appears as part of a significant motif combination. Therefore from the significant motifs found for this gene, a prediction could be made that a mutated or overexpressing HSP90-6 genotype could have altered light, circadian cycle responses and flower development. A mutation in HSP90-7 produced an altered flower development phenotype (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Ishiguro et al., (2002), by functional complementation demonstrated that the mutant phenotype arose because the CLAVATA3 gene, that regulates flower development for HSP90-6 cannot be discarded.

Chapter 4 Can Arabidopsis Acclimate to Drought Stress? Photosynthetic Responses in Wild Type Columbia and two At4g24190 (HSP90-7) Promoter Insertional Mutants During two Cycles of Drought Stress

4.1. Introduction

Most drought stress experiments in Arabidopsis have been done using the quick drying method (Urao et al., 1993; Kiyosue et al., 1994; Seki et al., 2001), but drought stress in the environment occurs in a gradual way. There have been drought stress experiments in Arabidopsis that use slow drying down to 70% of RWC (Rizhsky et al., 2004) and others that have gone down to 30% (Gigon et al., 2004). Recently Talame et al., (2007) have compared gene expression responses between low and fast drying in barley. Those authors concluded that only ~10% of the genes that were induced under the fast drying were induced in the slow drying plants. Moreover the magnitude of expression change in slow drying plants was low, compared to the fast drying plants. Therefore they suggest that fast drying experiments could be helpful to find genes related to signaling and recognition of the stress, but not to find genes related to acclimation that might provide long term protection.

Drought acclimation has been studied in other organisms such as wheat (Selote et a., 2004; Selote et al., 2006), Japanese mountain birch (Kitao et al., 2003), and in some cases gene expression analyses have been done, i.e.: pine (Watkinson et al., 2003) and potato (Watkinson et al., 2006).

We have shown previously a specific correlation of the responses of heat shock protein gene expression with photosynthetic acclimation in loblloly pine (Watkinson et al., 2003). Moreover, a homolog of HSP90-7 (At4g24190) in Arabidopsis was upregulated when photosynthetic acclimation occurred (Vasquez-Robinet et al., unpublished). This gene is the homolog of GRP94 in mammals, which have been shown to be responsive during the unfolded protein response (Kozutsumi et al., 1988). Moreover experiments with tunicamycin in Arabidopsis (which can induce the unfolded protein response) have shown the up-regulation of this gene (Martinez and Chrispeels, 2003; Kamauchi et al., 2005). The GRP94 homolog gene has been shown to be induced during systemic acquired resistance (Wang et al., 2005). It has also been shown to be responsive under cold stress (Bae et al., 2003), but there is no report of its expression during drought stress responses in Arabidopsis. This gene has been shown to be responsive to drought stress in the dessication tolerant plant *X. viscosa* (Walford et al., 2004).

In order to see if this gene has a similar function in Arabidopsis, the drought responses of putative loss of function T-DNA mutants were evaluated, together with wild type plants (Columbia ecotype), to determine (1) if Arabidopsis can acclimate to drought stress and (2) HSP90-7 has a role in photosynthetic acclimation during drought stress.

4.2. Materials and methods

4.2.1. Plant material and mutant screening

The drought stress experiments were performed in Col-0 *A. thaliana* ecotypes and in Col- T-DNA insertion lines from the SALK collection.

Six T-DNA insertion lines on At4g24190 gene were screened SALK016310, SALK048558, SALK076127, SALK145452, SALK088837 and SAIL227_C07. The primers for detection of homozygous lines were designed using the SALK primer tool on <u>http://signal.salk.edu/tdnaprimers.2.html</u> and are listed in Table 4-1. The T-DNA left border primer used for the SALK lines was Lba1: 5'- TGGTTCACGTAGTGGGCCATCG-3', and for the SAIL line was Lb1: 5'-GAAATGGATAAATAGCCTTGCTTCC-3'.The localization of the insertion was confirmed by sequencing of the PCR bands obtained in homozygous lines. DNA was isolated using the DNeasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA).

T-DNA Line	Left Primer (LP)	Right Primer (RP)
SALK048558	5'-TCCTTCACACTCTCATCCTGAG-3'	5'-GGTATCAATCCACTTTGACCG-3'
SALK076217	5'-TCCATGTATCCTCGGAAACAG-3'	5'-TATCGACGGATTCCGATGTAG-3'
SALK016310	5'-TTTGGTGGAGAAATTAAGTTTGG-3'	5'-GCAAGTGACCCAGAGGTAAAA-3'
SALK145452	5'-CTGTTCATGGAAGAAAGCAGC-3'	5'-CAAGATTCAAGCAATCCAAGC-3'
SAIL227C07	5'-AGGAGGTCTCTGGTGAGGAAG-3'	5'-CAAGATTCAAGCAATCCAAGC-3'
SALK088837	5'-GCCTGAAAATCACCAACACAG-3'	5'-AAAATATAGCCGTCCGATCGTC-3'

Table 4-1 Primers used for genotyping of T-DNA lines

4.2.2. Evaluation of embryo lethality

To evaluate whether At4g24190 was important for embryo formation, since homozygous lines with insertions in an exon were not found, seeds of heterozygous plants were counted following the guidelines in Seed Genes (<u>www.seedgenes.org</u>).

4.2.3. Drought stress application

The method of Mane et al. (2007) was followed with some modifications. *A. thaliana* seeds were imbibed for 3 days in the dark at 4°C. They were then sown on moist soil (Sunshine Mix 1), covered with plastic wrap and then transferred to a growth chamber set to 8 hours light, 100% fluorescent light at 22°C, 12 hours dark, at 18°C, and a constant relative humidity of 75% (Conviron 4030, Winnipeg, MB. Canada). The flats were watered every two days. After three weeks, the plants were transplanted to trays with 6 plants per 6" x 4" pot. Mutant plants and wild type plants were planted together to ensure both were experiencing the same level of stress (Figure 4-1)



Figure 4-1 Drought stress experiment setup in growth chamber

Wild type plants have a green tag, while mutant plants have a purple tag. Well watered plants (controls) have an additional yellow tag. The plants were 5 weeks old.

After that, plants were fertilized every week with a half strength solution of Peter's professional soluble plant food (Scotts-Sierra Horticultural Products, Marysville, OH). They were allowed to grow for 3 more weeks. To one group of plants drought stress was imposed by withholding water for approximately 2 weeks (1st cycle), re-watered, and then 1 more week (2nd Cycle) of no water. Another group of plants was stressed only during the 2nd cycle (Non acclimated: NAC). Figure 4-2 shows a diagram of the drought stress experiment. Photosynthesis was measured at noon (3 hours after the lights came on). This time point was defined as "maximum stress". Photosynthesis measurements were taken using a Li-6400 portable Photosynthesis System (Li-Cor Inc. Lincoln, NE). Immediately after photosynthesis was measured plants were watered to full capacity. Four hours later photosynthesis was measured again, "recovery". Sampling and photosynthesis measurements were performed at the end of each cycle (Figure 4-2). Three replicates were sampled for each time point and each replicate was made up of two plants that came from different pots. Only the aerial part (rosette) was harvested. Half the sample was used for relative water content (RWC) measurements and the other half was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for RNA isolation.

Relative water content was measured as follow: the plants were weighed (fresh weight, FW), then put in a Petri dish containing distilled water and stored at 4°C overnight. The next day they were weighed again (turgid weight, TW) and then dried in a oven overnight at 90°C. After drying they were weighed again (dry weight, DW). RWC was calculated with the following formula: RWC%= (FW-DW)/(TW-DW).





Turquoise blocks indicate the day of sampling which was at noon (maximum stress) and 4 hours after watering (recovery).

4.2.4. RNA isolation

Leaf tissue was ground to a fine powder under liquid nitrogen using a previously cooled mortar and pestle. The fine ground powder was then transferred to two 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes containing 1 volume of grinding buffer (0.18M TRIS, 0.09M LiCl, 4.5mM EDTA and 1% SDS; pH 8.2), 1 volume of phenol pH 4.7 (Sigma, St Louis, MO), 1/10th volume of 2M NaOAc pH 4.0 and 10 µl of β-mercaptoethanol/ml extraction buffer. The sample was thoroughly mixed on an orbital shaker (300 rpm) for 10 min. The sample was then centrifuged for 10 min at (9000 x G) at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and 1 volume of phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) pH 6.6 (Sigma, St Louis, MO) was added. The sample was then centrifuged for 10 min at (9000 x G) at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and an equal volume of chloroform was added. The sample was then centrifuged for 10 min (9000 x G) at 4°C. The supernatant was transferred to a new Eppendorf tube and 1/2volume 10 M LiCl was added. The sample was incubated at -20°C overnight for RNA precipitation. The RNA was then pelleted for 30 min (10 000 x G) at 4°C. The pellet was washed with 80% ethanol and then resuspended in RNA Storage Solution (Ambion, Austin, TX)

4.2.5. Real time PCR

Two step real time PCR was performed. Total RNA was DNAse treated with the DNAfree kit (Ambion, Austin, TX). After cleaning, 2 µgs of RNA were reverse transcribed using the cDNA archive kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and oligo $dT_{18}V$ primers. Real time PCR was performed with 5 µl of cDNA (from a 20 ng/µl dilution) using SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) in a 25 µl reaction volume on an ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems), with 0.5 µM primer final concentration and the following cycling steps: initial denaturation for 10 min. at 94°C, followed by 34 cycles with 15 sec 94°C, 30 sec 56°C and 30 sec at 72°C, and a 20 min gradient from 60 to 90°C to obtain a melting curve. The data were collected at the extension step (72°C). Primers to obtain larger amplicons (700-900bp) were designed from *A. thaliana* sequences from the TAIR

database. The products of the reaction were run through electrophoresis and isolated from agarose. Ten fold dilutions of each product between 10 pg and 0.1 fg were used to generate a standard curve for each gene. Chloroplastic GAPDH (At3g26650, Forward: 5'-CGTGATCTAAGGAGAGCAAGA-3', Reverse: 5- TTCCCTTGAGGTTAGGGAGC-3') was used as a control gene. Two sets of primers were designed for the At4g24190 gene one in the 3'UTR (F1: 5'-ACCCGTTGAGCAACAAGAAGAG-3' and R1: 5''-CGAGTAAAACGATGTTCTGCTT-3') and the 2nd in the C-terminal (F1:5'-TGGATGGAGTGCTAATATGGAG-3' and R2:5'-GCAAGTAGTGCGTTTACATAATCC-3'). Both primer pairs gave similar results. The results showed here are from the 2nd primer pair.

At least three technical repeats per biological repeat were analyzed. Deviations from threshold values were less than 0.5 cycle for technical replicates and less than 1 cycle for biological replicates.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. At4g24190 mutants genotyping results

At the time of the experiment there were 3 lines available containing insertions in exons of the gene: SALK016310, with an insertion in the last exon, SALK048558 with an insertion on exon 13 and SALK076127 with an insertion in exon 4 according to TAIR. Genotyping of the seedlings resulted in three homozygous mutants for SALK016310 and no homozygous mutants for the two other lines. Reverse transcription was done from RNA from leaves from the 3 homozygous SALK016310 lines, and semi-quantitative PCR was done to check the level of expression of the gene and to verify that they were not expressing the gene (Figure 4-3), further analysis of the insertion place in the SALK website (http://signal.salk.edu/cgi-bin/tdnaexpress) showed that the insertion was in the 3'UTR.



Figure 4-3 Gene expression in T-DNA insertion lines in At4g24190 as revealed by semiquantitative RT-PCR

Lanes 1, 2 and 3 are the 3 SALK016310 homozygous lines. Lane 4 has Col-O and lane 5 is the negative control. PCR was performed using cDNA from each genotype and using primers that amplify the 3' UTR (F1 and R1).

Since it was not possible to find homozygous mutants in the other lines, it was suggested that a complete knockdown of the gene may be embryo lethal. In mammalian cells it has been observed that a basal amount of ER resident HSP90 is needed for survival (Gorza and Vitadello, 2000). To check if the gene was important for embryo/seed development, seeds from an heterozygous plant (SALK048558). A mutant phenotype was observed in only 3.4% of total seeds counted (29 of 845 seeds) in the mutant line. No comparable aberrant phenotype was observed in siliques from wild type plants. Mutant seeds also appeared smaller and darker than the wild type seeds. Most mutant seeds were localized close to the tip of the silique, in the region closest to the stigma surface. The number of observed mutant seeds was much smaller than the 25% expected Mendelian (3:1 ratio) if a homozygous mutation of At4g24190 had resulted in embryo lethality.

The only mutant report of the ER resident HSP90 in Arabidopsis is a mutant in the Wassilewskija ecotype (*shd:shepherd*), where the insertion is 16bp upstream from the coding sequence (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Therefore, a mutant that has the insertion in the promoter may be viable, where expression was reduced, but not suppressed completely. Three insertion lines were screened: one with the insertion just before the first exon (SALK145452), two with insertions approximately 300bp upstream of the 5'UTR (SALK088837 and SAIL227_C07). Homozygous lines were obtained with SALK145452 and SAIL227_C07. The SALK 145452 mutants produced two PCR products after PCR with LbA and the left and right primers (LP and RP) for that region. The bands had a

difference in size of 20bps approximately (Figure 4-4), so a PCR was performed with LbA and LP and another one with LbA and RP, suggesting a tandem tail to tail insertion. This was confirmed by sequencing both products (Figure 4-5) and it was not in the 5'UTR. Instead, the insertion was upstream 254 bp from the first exon (Figure 4-5, Figure 4-6). The SAIL227_C07 mutant gave only one band after PCR with the LB1 primer and its respective LP and RP primers. After sequencing of the product, the insertion proved to be ~70bps closer than the location given by SALK, 240bp upstream from the first exon (Figure 4-5, Figure 4-6).



a)

Figure 4-4 PCR results of screening for homozygous SALK145452 mutants

G2, G5, G8 and G12 are SALK145452 lines (lanes 1,2,3,4). Line 5 has the Col-O control and the last line is the negative control.



Figure 4-5 Location of theT-DNA insertions in the SALK145452 (a) and SAIL227_C07 (b) homozygous lines.



Figure 4-6 Location of T-DNA insertions in the upstream sequence of At4g24190 (AtHSP90-7) for SALK145452 and SAIL227_C07

The localization of the insertions of the SAIL: mutant (SAIL227_C07) and SALK mutant (SALK145452) were confirmed by sequencing the bands obtained using a left border T-DNA primer and an At4g24190 primer, designed by the SALK primer tool (http://signal.salk.edu/tdnaprimers.2.html). The small colored boxes highlight the location of cis-elements and the insertions are just before the unfolded protein response element (UPRMOTIFIIAT). The purple and green triangle mark the location of the insertions from SALK database (purple: SAIL227_C07 and light green SALK145452) and the red triangle marks the actual place of the insertion found by sequencing. The light yellow box represents the 5'UTR of the gene and the red arrow part of the first exon.

Real time PCR was carried out with cDNA from the SALK145452 and SAIL227_C07 homozygous lines. The primers used (primer pair 2) localized to the C-terminal part of the gene (exon 12). Gene expression in the mutants was compared with levels of gene expression in Col-0 plants growing in the same pot at the same conditions (well watered, 8 hours of light, 21C light, 18C dark) showing that the gene expression was reduced on the SALK145452 line and reduced for the SAIL227_C07 line (Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7 Expression of HSP90-7 gene in mutant homozygous lines and wild type (Col-O) plants

Real time PCR was done in cDNA from 3 replicates (each replicate made of two plants), with 3 technical replicates. WT-1 indicate the results from wild type plants that were growing in the same pot that *hsp90-7-1* and WT-2 indicate the results from wild plants that were growing in the same pot that *hsp90-7-2*. The expression data was normalized with chloroplastic GAPDH.

4.3.2. Mutant plants acclimated after one cycle of mild stress while wild type plants did not

There were no morphological differences between the wild type and mutant lines before and after the exposure to drought stress (Figure 4-8). After one cycle of mild stress, both mutants SALK14542 (hereafter referred to as *hsp90-7-1*) and SAIL227_C07 (hereafter referred to as *hsp90-7-2*) have a RWC similar to the wild type (Figure 4-9 A and C, Table 4-2) and they recovered after 4 hours in a similar way (Figure 4-9 B and D, Table 4-2). Their photosynthetic behavior was similar, although it seemed that the *hsp90-7-1* mutant has a higher photosynthesis rate (WT= 3.3 umolCO²/cm²/s, *hsp90-7-1*=4.0 umolCO²/cm²/s) than the wild type (Figure 4-9 C).



Figure 4-8 Effect of drought stress on WT and mutants after two cycles of stress and recovery

4-8 a and 4-8 b illustrate the appearance of the plants from the 1^{st} experiment (*hsp90-7-1*) and 4-8 c and 4-8 d from the 2^{nd} experiment (*hsp90-7-2*). There are no obvious phenotypic differences between the wild type and mutant plants after the drought stress application (a and c) or after the recovery (b and d) both recovered on a similar way.

		Maximu	m stress			Reco	overy	
	1st Exp	eriment	2nd Exp	periment	1st Exp	eriment	2nd Exp	periment
Treatment	WT	hsp90-7-1	WT	hsp90-7-2	WT	hsp90-7-1	WT	hsp90-7-2
1st cycle (Control)	94.5±0.5	96.0±1.6	96.5±2.8	97.7±1.7	91.3±0.7	94.2±1.2	90.6±2.0	90.1±0.4
1st cycle (Mild)	90.5±1.2	91.3±0.4	86.8±0.7	85.2±1.4	94.1±0.7	92.0±1.8	88.0±2.9	90.4±1.0
2nd cycle (Control)	93.5±2.3	95.7±0.9	97.5±0.5	92.7±1.9	94.6±1.0	94.9±1.2	96.3±1.5	94.9±1.0
2nd cycle (Severe)	72.3±0.3	69.3±0.3	60.5±0.1	61.3±2.2	96.6±0.1	94.8±2.7	88.3±1.5	84.6±1.9
NAC(mild)	96.6±1.7	94.5±0.8	88.3±0.9	84.9±0.6	96.5±1.9	95.7±3.3	89.3±1.8	91.7±1.1
NAC(severe)	-	-	74.6±2.0	71.9±3.3	-	-	87.7±1.3	86.2±2.0

Table 4-2 Relative water content	(RWC%) in m	nutant and wild f	type plants.
----------------------------------	-------------	-------------------	--------------

The RWC at maximum stress after two cycles of drought stress are in bold, and the RWC of the NAC that experienced a mild stress are in italics.

After the 2nd cycle of drought stress the mutant plants had a higher photosynthetic rate compared to wild types (Figure 4-9 A and C), moreover both wild type and mutant genotypes were experiencing the same low levels of water stress at that time (similar RWC Table 4-2). In the first experiment (WT vs *hsp90-7-1* mutant) the RWC was around 70% and in the 2nd experiment (WT vs *hsp90-7-2* mutant) it was around 60%. In the 2nd experiment there were mutant NAC plants that had a RWC around 74% (Figure 4-9 C, yellow arrow) and had a lower PS rate compared to the ones that were previously exposed to a mild stress and had an even lower RWC of 60% (Figure 4-9 C, yellow bubble). The NAC WT plants had a RWC around 72%, and their photosynthetic rate was

slightly higher than the WT plants that had a previous exposure to a mild stress and a RWC of 61% (Figure 4-9 C).

The recovery rate after the 2nd cycle was similar among the mutants and wild type, although since WT and *hsp90-7-2* were at a lower RWC in the 2nd experiment (Table 4-2) compared to the 1st experiment (~70%), they (WT and *hsp90-7-2*) did not recover to a RWC close to normal values (~95%) moreover, the *hsp90-7-2* mutant recovered to a slightly higher RWC compared to the wild type (*hsp90-7-2* RWC= 88 +-1.5%, WT RWC =84+-1.8%).

The NAC mild plant in the 1^{st} experiment were not as stressed (RWC ~94%, Table 4-2) as the NAC mild plants in the 2^{nd} experiment (RWC 85%) which explains the differences in photosynthetic rates observed (Figure 4-9 A and C) where NAC mild plants from the 1^{st} experiment have higher photosynthetic rates compared to NAC mild plants from the 2^{nd} experiment.

In the 1st experiment it seemed that the mutant had a higher photosynthetic rate compared with the wild type, so I thought that maybe they were at a different developmental stage, because this mutant also took one to two weeks more to bolt compared to the wild types (Figure 4-10). From a total of 8 plants of each type, 7 WT flowered while only 1 mutant plant flowered. The WT and mutant plants were growing in the same pots and therefore were exposed to same conditions.





57

yellow arrow) and they were experiencing the same level of water stress. This effect is also seen after 4 hours of rehydration (recovery B and D).



Figure 4-10. Time of flowering in unstressed WT and *hsp90-7-1* **plants** Wild type plants (WT) that were grown together with mutant plants (*hsp90-7-1*) for eight weeks under the

same conditions flowered earlier (white oval).

4.3.3. Effect of T-DNA insertion in the expression of HSP90-7 in mutant lines

Since both mutant lines had acclimated while the wild type did not, expression of At4g24190 may have been altered. However, since the insertion was close to the ER stress responsive element (UPRMOTIFIIAT, Figure 4-6) and HSP90-7 may be important for the event similar to the Unfolded Protein Response that may occur during severe drought stress, it was possible that the gene expression level would be high, and that could explain why the mutants acclimate. We tested this hypothesis by measuring the expression level of the At4g24190 in the *hsp90-7-2* mutant and wild type plants. Figure 4-11 shows the results after real time PCR (data not available for *hsp90-7-1* mutant). As can be seen in Figure 4-11, the *hsp90-7-2* mutant had a lower level of expression of HSP90-7 compared to the WT. Moreover the WT NAC severe plants (Figure 4-11, light turqoise bar) have their expression a little higher than the plants previously exposed to a mild stress (Figure 4-11, maroon bar).

In both cases (*hsp90-7-2* and WT) the levels of expression after rehydration were not as high compared to the maximum stress point (Figure 4-11).





Figure 4-11 Effects of Drought Stress on the Relative expression of AtHSP90-7 in the *hsp90-7-2* Mutant and Wild type

Real time PCR was carried out on cDNA obtained from mRNA from drought stressed leaves from the *hsp90-7-2* mutant and wild type plants during the 2^{nd} cycle, and from corresponding well watered plants. The relative expression of HSP90-7 in samples from plants that experienced 2 cycles of stress (1^{st} cycle: mild stress, 2^{nd} cycle: severe stress) are in maroon, from plants that were non acclimated (NAC) and were experiencing a mild stress are in yellow, and from non acclimated plants that were experiencing a severe stress are in pale turquoise.

4.4. Discussion

4.4.1. AtHSP90-7 may be an essential gene for pollen germination or pollen tube formation

Segregation ratios obtained from mutant seeds in a heterozygous line SALK048558, 20:2 deviated from the expected Mendelian value (3:1). This result suggested that AtHSP90-7 action is not related directly to embryo development. Moreover, the fact that the mutant seeds are located close to the tip of the silique, suggests that the mutant allele might have an effect on pollen germination. Segregation studies on the *shd* a knockout of the At4g24190 gene in the Wassilewskija ecotype, resulted in a reduced inheritance of the *shd* mutation when the homozygous male plants were crossed with heterozygous plant, while that did not happen when the homozygous plant was the female donor, thus male gametophytes were affected by the mutation (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Further studies were done where attaching pollen grains from *shd* flowers on to wild type stigmas and *dad1* mutants stigmas (were self pollination is inhibited since their anthers cannot dehisce at flower opening), showed that the pollen grains germinated but the pollen tube was rarely formed (Ishiguro et al., 2002). Thus, one documented action of the AtHSP90-7 gene is to enable pollen tube germination.

Recent work on the *shd* mutant have shown that it is, in fact, not a complete knockout, since the gene can be induced after tunicamycin treatment (also used for unfolded protein response induction) and is expressed in the roots (Klein et al., 2006).

4.4.2. Lower expression of AtHSP90-7 is needed for photosynthetic acclimation in Arabidopsis

It appears that the difference in net photosynthetic rates between the two mutants in the unstressed conditions might be due to the different placements of the mutants. Different cis-elements may be active in this mutant that activate the gene differently, producing a different photosynthetic phenotype than in the controls (*hsp90-7-1* controls have higher photosynthesis rates, while *hsp90-7-2* controls are similar to wild type controls). However, from the real time data in the *hsp90-7-2* mutant it seems that a reduction in the level of HSP90-7 expression might be necessary for photosynthetic acclimation. Klein et al., (2006) observed that the reduction of expression of this gene in the *shd* mutant in proliferating tissue increased the protein steady state levels of BIP, therefore BIP compensates HSP90-7. They did not observe the same compensation in mature leaves. However, when the mRNA levels were measured they could not find a difference concluding that this higher accumulation in *shd* is due to increased protein stability. The steady state levels of BIP protein might also be higher in the *HSP90-7-2* mutant and might have contributed to the photosynthetic acclimation observed.

It seems that At4g24190 is induced under low RWC (Figure 4-7) as can be seen in WT plants with a RWC between 60% and 70%. This was seen previously in real time expression analysis from Anti-PLD alpha plants that experience a severe stress compared to wild type plants (Mane et al., 2007). Under low RWC drought stress, protein unfolding can occur, due to the high level of ROS species. The activation of antioxidant genes and the occurrence of high levels of H_2O_2 under severe water condition has been shown in wheat seedlings (Selote et al., 2004; Selote and Khanna-Chopra, 2006). Selote et al., (2006) observed that an exposure to a mild stress induced a coordinated antioxidant response that was correlated with drought acclimation in wheat seedlings.

Therefore it seems that HSP90-7 has a different role in Arabidopsis than in pine, since it is induced at low water levels (60-70% RWC) but it is does not appear to be related to photosynthetic acclimation.
Chapter 5 Physiological and Molecular Adaptations to Drought in Andean Potato Genotypes

5.1. Introduction

Plants have different ways to respond to drought stress, they can avoid the stress or they can develop mechanisms of tolerance. These mechanisms are not exclusive and plants might use a range of response types. A "tolerance" mechanism implies ways to avoid tissue dehydration, while maintaining the water potential, or tolerating a low tissue water potential. This can be accomplished by minimizing water loss, which is mostly achieved by the closing of stomata, but the plant can also adopt morphological changes to avoid water loss: such as decreasing canopy leaf area through reduced growth and shedding of older leaves (Chaves et al., 2003). The closing of stomata reduces CO₂ availability, therefore affecting photosynthesis and yield.

During drought stress ABA biosynthesis is stimulated. The accumulation of ABA (Mizhari et al., 1971, Boussiba et al., 1975, Radin 1981, Robertson et al., 1985), initiates a series of signaling events that help the plant tolerate the stress. The advances of molecular biology have allowed the identification of many of the genes that are involved in the transduction of this response. At least two pathways have been identified, one ABA dependent and, the other, ABA independent (Ishitani et al., 1997, Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 1997; Zhu, 2002). ABA is responsible for stomatal closure in guard cells (Schroeder 2001, Israelson et al., 2006) and phospholipase D alpha-1 and ROS mediate this response (Mishra et al. 2006). ABA also increases/activates transcription factors such as MYBs, DREBs, bZIPs that activate the expression of other genes (reviewed by Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki, 2006). However ABA levels are high only a few hours after the perception of the stress, after that it is metabolized. The *abi 1-1* and *abi2-1* mutants are not responsive to ABA (ABA insensitive mutants). The mutation in these mutants are in type 2 C protein phosphatases (PP2C), that are known as negative regulators of ABA signaling (Leung et al., 1997). Recent studies with Arabidopsis plants at low water potential has found that these mutants accumulate ABA,

but to a higher levels compared to wild type plants, therefore Verslues and Bray (2006) proposed that PP2C is involved in ABA catabolism/degradation signaling.

After the first ABA-responsive transcription factors are induced, the expression of other genes follows, that help to protect the cell such as heat shock proteins (Vierling 1991, Rizhsky et al., 2002, Rizhsky et al., 2004, Watkinson et al., 2003, Wang et al., 2004), antioxidant proteins (Mittler and Zilinskas, 1994; Jiang and Zhang, 2002; Pastori and Foyer, 2002; Walz et al., 2002), and osmolyte metabolic enzymes (Yoshiba et al., 1997, Satoh et al., 2002).

Potato is the fourth most important food crop in the world, with an annual production approaching 300 million tons (CIP, 1998) and like other crops it is also affected by drought stress. Moreover, the specie of potato that it is mostly consumed, *S. tuberosum* is highly susceptible to drought stress (Weisz et al., 1994). The domesticated tetraploid *S.tuberosum* subsp *tuberosum* comes from the Chiloé Island in Chile, and originally from Andean stock (Hawkes, 1990). *S. tuberosum* subsp. *andigena* is a tetraploid Andean potato cultivated from the Andes from Venezuela to Northern Argentina (Huaman and Ross, 1985), being cultivated at an altitude as high as to 3500 m.o.s.l (Terrazas et al., 1996) and therefore adapted to harsh climate situations. Also, since it is also a tetraploid, it is possible to create hybrids with *S. tuberosum* subsp *tuberosum* (Tai and Tarn, 1980; Kumar and Kang, 2006). Therefore *S. tuberosum* subsp *andigena* (hereafter referred to as Andigena) is an ideal candidate to study genes related to drought tolerance, that in the future could be used for breeding or biotechnology improvement of *S. tuberosum* sbsp *tuberosum*.

Previous experiments with Andigena accessions showed that the accession that adapted the best, had a higher, constitutive level of expression of genes encoding enzymes of the flavonoid pathway suggesting that the flavonoids are important to adaptation (Watkinson et al., 2006).

In the present study we evaluated the physiological and phenotypic response to drought stress of 3 Andigena genotypes, one Andigena x Tuberosum hybrid and Atlantic (*S. tuberosum* subps *tuberosum* cultivar). We were able to identify resistant and tolerant Andigena genotypes, based on photosynthetic performance after 25 days of stress. We further evaluated gene expression of two of the Andean genotypes, using a 44k feature

oligo microarray from Agilent Gene expression analysis suggested that the better performance in the resistant genotype is correlated with up-regulation of heat shock protein genes and antioxidant genes located in the chloroplasts, suggesting a better protection of the chloroplast against the ROS species that might have arisen due to drought stress.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Plant material and drought stress application

Three S.tuberosum spp andigena genotypes: Leona, Negra Ojosa and Sullu, one breeding variety (adg x tbr) Costanera and S. tuberosum (Atlantic) (Figure 5-1, Error! Reference source not found.) were clonally propagated in vitro and rooted in rooting media. They were transferred to 9 cm square pots containing Promix BX (Premier Horticulture, Quakertwon, PA) in the greenhouse and grown under natural light (July, Blacksburg, VA, latitude 37.229N. longitude -80.414W) at (20-25C) for two weeks. Tip cuttings were then taken, dipped in Rootone® F brand (Bayer Cropscience, Research Triangle Park, NC), transferred to 9 cm square pots with a mix of 2 parts of Pro Mix BX and one part of sand, and kept at high humidity for two days in the dark and then grown under the same conditions. After 4 weeks, plants were transferred to 28cm x 19 cm containers containing the same potting mix (2 Pro Mix BX: 1 sand) and grown under the same conditions for 6 more weeks. After that time water was withheld (September, Blacksburg, VA). Every week the plants were fertilized with a half strength solution of Peters professional soluble plant food (Scotts-Sierra Horticultural Products, Marysville, OH). The plants were monitored by photosynthetic measurements (LiCor 6400, Lincoln, NE). Control plants were watered every 10 days. Photosynthesis averaged between 8 and 12 umol $CO_2/m^2/s$ throughout the experiment. Samples were harvested when photosynthesis was reduced to 50 to 60% in the most susceptible genotype (18 days after water stress imposition) and then when it was reduced to 70% in the other genotypes (25 days after water stress imposition). After that point, the plants were rewatered and photosynthesis measurements were taken 24h later. Photosynthesis was monitored every 3 -4 days on the 4th fully expanded leaf and when one genotype reach 50% to 60% photosynthesis, photosynthesis was monitored every other day. The 4th fully expanded leaf was harvested at the three time points (18 and 25 days after withholding water and at the 24 hour recovery point), they were then flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at - 80C. Half of each sample was used for RNA isolation and the other half was used for metabolite analysis. Tubers were also harvested at each point, counted , weighed and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. At each point 3 treated and 3 control plants were harvested.



Figure 5-1 Negra Ojosa, Leona, Sullu y Costanera plants after 18 days of stress

It can be observed that at this point Costanera is already wilting compared to the other genotypes, and its photosynthesis was 50% reduced compared to control plants.

5.2.2. RNA isolation

RNA was isolated from approximately 2 g of leaf tissue. RNA was isolated using a phenol-based method as instructed by TIGR http://www.tigr.org/tdb/potato/microarray_SOPs.shtml.

5.2.3. Microarrays

RNA extracted from leaves at the point of maximum stress (25 days after water withhold) were hybridized on custom made Agilent OligoMicroarrays, with 44 K features. All the reagents were bought from Agilent and the hybridization was done following the Agilent protocol:

http://www.chem.agilent.com/scripts/LiteraturePDF.asp?iWHID=46782.

StatusOrigincolorflesh colorCoord.Coord.Coord.Coord.CostaneraAdg x TbrBred varietyPERWhite-creamWhiteCoord.Coord.Coord.Coord.SulluAdglandracePERYellowLight yellow3700-75.38-11.82LeonaAdglandraceECUblackPurple-Negra OjosaAdglandraceARGPurplish redLight yellow-65.47-22.12AtlanticTbrlandraceCHILEWhite-creamWhite	-	Cipnumb	Cultivar name	Spp	Biological	Country of	Predominant skin	ו Predominant	Altitude	Longitude	Latitude
Costanera Adg x Tbr Bred variety PER White-cream White Sullu Adg landrace PER Yellow Light yellow 3700 -75.38 -11.82 Dark purple- Leona Adg landrace ECU black Purple Negra Ojosa Adg landrace ARG Purplish red Light yellow 3440 -65.47 -22.12 Atlantic Tbr landrace CHILE White-cream White					Status	Origin	color	flesh color		Coord.	Coord.
SulluAdglandracePERYellowLight yellow3700-75.38-11.82LeonaAdglandraceECUblackPurpleNegra OjosaAdglandraceARGPurplish redLight yellow-65.47-22.12AtlanticTbrlandraceCHILEWhite-creamWhite	379706.27		Costanera	Adg x Tbr	Bred variety	PER	White-cream	White			
Dark purple- Leona Adg landrace ECU black Purple Negra Ojosa Adg landrace ARG Purplish red Light yellow 3440 -65.47 -22.12 Atlantic Tbr landrace CHILE White-cream White	701997		Sullu	Adg	landrace	PER	Yellow	Light yellow	3700	-75.38	-11.82
Leona Adg landrace ECU black Purple Negra Ojosa Adg landrace ARG Purplish red Light yellow 3440 -65.47 -22.12 Atlantic Tbr landrace CHILE White-cream White							Dark purple-				
Negra Ojosa Adg Iandrace ARG Purplish red Light yellow 3440 -65.47 -22.12 Atlantic Tbr Iandrace CHILE White-cream White	704058		Leona	Adg	landrace	ECU	black	Purple			
Atlantic Tbr landrace CHILE White-cream White	704143		Negra Ojosa	Adg	landrace	ARG	Purplish red	Light yellow	3440	-65.47	-22.12
	NA		Atlantic	Tbr	landrace	CHILE	White-cream	White			

Table 5-1 Information about S. andigena landraces used in the drought experiment.

5.2.4. Statistical analysis and data mining

The microarray analysis platform TM4 has been used (Saeed et al., 2003). The following normalization steps were carried out on MIV (median intensitiy values) using the MIDAS pipeline: total intensity normalization, lowess normalization, standard deviation regularization and low intensity filtering. The output of the MIDAS pipeline was used to identify differentially expressed genes using one class *t*-test in Multi Experiment Viewer (MEV) module of TM4. The details of the microarray analyses are described in (Sioson et al., 2006). The physiology data was analyzed in R (http://www.R-project.org) using an ANOVA model where the main and interaction effects of genotype and treatment on tuber number, average tuber weight and root weight was analyzed.

5.2.5. Real Time PCR

Two step real time PCR was performed. Total RNA was DNAse treated with the DNAfree kit (Ambion, Austin, TX). After cleaning, 4µgs of RNA were reverse transcribed using the cDNA archive kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and oligo $dT_{18}V$ primers. Real time PCR was performed with 5 µLof cDNA (from a 20ng/µl dilution) using SYBR® Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) in a 25 µl reaction volume on an ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems), with 0.5 µM primer final concentration and the following cycling steps: initial denaturation for 10 min. at 94°C, followed by 34 cycles with 15 sec 94°C, 30 sec 56°C and 30 sec at 72°C, and a 20 min gradient from 60 to 90°C to obtain a melting curve. The data were collected at the extension step (72°C). Primers to obtain larger amplicons (700-900bp) were designed from *S. tuberosum* sequences from the TIGR potato ESTs database. The products of this products in concentration between 10 pg and 0.1 fg were used to generate a standard curve.

An 183 bp amplicon of adenosine kinase served as an internal control since its expression level does not change in potato during drought stress (Watkinson et al., 2006). Real time primers were designed from cloned sequences from candidate genes (Table 5-2). All primers pairs were tested for dimer formation before using them with the actual samples.

At least three technical repeats per biological repeat were analyzed. Deviations from threshold values were less than 0.5 cycle for technical replicates and less than 1 cycle for biological replicates.

	Subcellular		
Gene Name	location	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
HSP40	Chl	5'-GCACACAGCATAGCATGTTTCATC-3'	5'-TCATCGCCCTTCTTCGTTACC-3'
Ppiase	Chl	5'-ATCCAATTCATCTTCCCGCC-3'	5'-TACCGCCACCAATCGAGCTG-3'
HSF	Nu	5'-AACCAGTCCAAGAAAGTATGTCGG-3'	5'-ACAGCAGGTGACAATTCAAGCC-3'
HSC70-3	Cyt	5'-TGTGCAAGCAGCCATTCTTAGTG-3'	5'-TCCAGCAGTTTCGAGTCCTAGC-3'
BIP	ER	5'-CAAGGTCTATTCTCATCTCCG-3'	5'-GGAGAAATGTCGTAACTCAGG-3'
HSP90(GRP94)	ER	5'-ATCAAGGTCGAAAGATACAGG-3'	5'-TAAACCATTAGGAACAGCACC-3'
Glutathione Synthetase	Chl	5'-AGCTCCATATCTGAAGGAAGTGACC-3'	5'-GGGGTAACAAAGAGTCCAAACGC-3'
Glutathione S transferase	Cyt	5'-GGGAAAGAAACTAACAGGAACC-3'	5'-GGAGTTGGAGTACCATGTTG-3'
Thioredoxin H	Cyt	5'-TCCAATTATCAATGACTTTGCTTCC-3'	5'-GCATAGCTTGAACCTCGTATTCCA-3'

Table 5-2 Primers used for Real Time PCR

Cyt: Cytosol, Chl: Chloroplast, Nu: Nucleus and ER: Endoplasmic Reticulum

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Effect of drought stress on root weight, tuber number and average tuber weight

Figure 5-2 shows the differences in root weight under stress and non-stress conditions (control). The Atlantic (*S. tuberosum*) and Costanera (adg x tbr) appear to have responded to drought by increasing their root mass, while Sullu, Leona and Negra Ojosa (*S. andigena* landraces) showed little change in root mass when exposed to drought. Sullu and Negra Ojosa also have similar sizes of root mass.

There were also differences in the number of tubers that were produced under stress and under control conditions (Figure 5-3). Sullu and Negra ojosa drastically reduced their number of tubers under stress, while the other genotypes (Atlantic, Costanera and Leona) had an slight increase in the tuber number. The average tuber weight (Figure 5-4) was reduced for most of the genotypes, but not for Sullu, which is probably a consequence of the mild effect that this drought stress caused in this genotype as we will see in the next section.



Atlantic Costanera Sullu Leona N. Ojosa

Figure 5-2 Effect of drought stress on root weight.

Mean root weight of control and stressed genotypes averaged across all times was compared. Atlantic (non Andigena genotype and Costantera (adg x tbr) showed a different behavior under stress conditions: more root growth during stres (circled in blue) compared to the Andigena genotypes



Figure 5-3 Effect of drought stress on average tuber number

Average tuber number of control and stressed genotypes averaged across all times was compared. Atlantic (non Andigena genotype), Costanera (adg x tbr), and Leona showed little change in tuber number while tuber number was reduced in Sullu and Negra Ojosa under drought stress (blue ovals).





Average tuber weight of control and stressed genotypes averaged across all times was compared. Sullu and Negra Ojosa had smaller tubers (blue ovals) than the other genotypes. The magnitude of the differences in tuber weight between control and treated plants in Sullu and Negra Ojosa was less then the drought-mediated differences observed in the other genotypes.

5.3.2. S. andigena landraces are more tolerant to drought stress than is compared to S. tuberosum

S. tuberosum (Atlantic) was employed as a control to measure the level of drought stress in the plants analyzed, but after 17 days of drought stress Atlantic treated plants had their photosynthesis reduced to almost 80% and Costanera (which comes from a *S. tuberosum* and *S. andigena* cross) showed photosynthesis reduced to 80% after 22 days. Atlantic leaves were bigger than Sullu and Negra Ojosa leaves, which have a similar leaf size (Figure 5-1), while Costanera leaves were not as big as those of Atlantic, but still two times bigger than Sullu and Negra Ojosa. However, Negra Ojosa was more affected than Sullu, showing a 40% reduction while, in Sullu, drought stressed plants exhibited photosynthesis in Negra Ojosa had been reduced 80% while, in Sullu plants only a 56% reduction was observed.

24 hours after rewatering, Atlantic and Sullu recovered 80% of photosynthesis, while Negra Ojosa only recovered to 23% of the control rate. Therefore, even though it could stand water deficits longer than Atlantic it could not recover from that level of stress. Leona, the other *S. andigena* genotype showed photosynthetic behavior similar to that of Negra Ojosa (photosynthetic reduction to 80%), but it recovered to 70% after rewatering (data not shown).

The relative water content of the andigena landraces at maximum drought stress was between 70-80%.



Figure 5-5 Effects of drought stress on photosynthesis in Atlantic, Negra Ojosa and Sullu

Net photosynthesis during drought stress is showed, halfway trough stress, at the point of maximum stress and 24 hours after watering (recovery). All the measurements were done at noon.

5.3.3. Differential expression of chaperone genes at maximum drought stress in Sullu and Negra ojosa

Since Negra Ojosa and Sullu have similar root mass and tuber mass and Sullu and Negra Ojosa exhibited two extremes of drought stress tolerance among the 3 *S. andigena* landraces studied (Sullu being the most tolerant and Negra Ojosa the most susceptible), gene expression analysis (microarrays) was performed on RNA samples from both genotypes. Table 5-3 shows the genes that were expressed differently in Sullu and Negra Ojosa. Many of the chaperone genes that are up-regulated in Sullu, are located in the chloroplast, moreover, 3 of them (Cpn 60 or chaperonin 60) are involved on the folding of Rubisco (Barraclough and Ellis, 1980; Viitanen et al., 1995).

Real time PCR confirmed the results found with microarrays (Figure 5-6). Other chaperone genes not included/not detected in the microarray were also analyzed: an homolog of BIP3 (luminal binding protein 3) and an homolog of GRP94 (ER resident HSP90). The general response of non-chloroplast HSPs during maximum stress of Negra Ojosa is higher than that of Sullu, most of the chaperones have a higher fold change compared with Sullu, probably because Negra Ojosa was experiencing more stress. During recovery most of the genes analyzed did not show any change with the exception of HSP70, and a homolog of the cytosolic HSC70-3 of tobacco, which is highly upexpressed in Sullu and therefore might have helped in the recovery of this plant after watering.

Location	At homolog	Description	Type	Sullu_Exp	Negra_Exp
			HSP40 (N, central	,	
	AT3G44110	DnaJ-like protein [Lycopersicon esculentum]	and C terminal)	0	
	AT1G76700	DnaJ Heat Shock N-terminal domain-containing protein	HSP40(N_terminal)	0	
chloroplast	AT5G06130	Chaperone protein DnaJ related, DnaJ central domain (4 repeats)	HSP40(central)	0	
	AT5G1545	HSP100/ClpB, putative [Arabidopsis thaliana] pir T51523 clpB heat shock protein	HSP100	0	+
chloroplast	AT4G2428	pir T08899 dnaK-type molecular chaperone HSC70-9, chloroplast - spinach	DnaK Hsp70	0	+
nucleus	AT4G1398	pir G71400 probable heat shock transcription factor - Arabidopsis thaliana	HSF(A5)	0	+
chloroplast	AT5G1937	peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase-like protein [Oryza sativa (japonica cultivar-gro	Ppiase	0	+
	AT1G24120	DhaJ heat shock protein putative, similar to altered response to gravity (A. thalian	HSP40(N_terminal)	0	+
	AT5G23590	DnaJ Heat Shock N-terminal domain-containing protein, low similarity to CAJ1 fror	HSP40(N_terminal)	0	+
	AT3G5734	Similar to SP:Q9QYI4 DnaJ homolog subfamily B member 12 Mus musculus	HSP40(N_terminal)		+
		AT5g55220/ ref[NP_200333.2] trigger factor type chaperone family protein			
chloroplast	AT5G5522	[Arabidopsis thaliana]	Ppiase (AtTIG) **	+	+
<mark>chloroplast</mark>	AT4G0799	DNAJ heat shock N-terminal domain-containing protein [Arabidopsis thaliana]	HSP40 (N-terminal)		0
cytosol	AT3G1258	heat shock protein 70-3 [Nicotiana tabacum]	DnaK HSP70		0
		heat stress transcription factor [Lycopersicon peruvianum] pir S12361 heat			
nucleus	AT4G36990	shock transcription factor HSF24 - Peruvian tomato	HSF(B1)	-	0
cytosol	AT5G5264	(Heat Shock Protein 81-1 (HSP81-1)	HSP90		0
chloroplast	AT1G5549(probable chaperonin 60 beta chain precursor, chloroplast (clone potbchap1) - Lootato abIAAB39827.11 chaperonin-60 beta subunit	HSP60	+	0
chloronlact		Identical to SwissProt:P21238- Rubisco subunit binding-protein alpha aubunit,	НСРКЛ	+	-
chloroplast	AT3G6021	conception products (voltable) and the subject of t	Chaperonin10	+	0
	AT2G38000	thaliana	HSP40(central)	+	0
		DnaJ Heat Shock N-terminal domain containing protein , similar to SP:Q9UGP8			
mitochondrion	AT1G7994	translocation protein SEC63 homolog	HSP40 (N-terminal)	+	0
cytosol	AT3G4623	17.4 kDA Class I heat shock protein (HSP17.4-CI), (Arabidopsis thaliana)	sHSP	+	0

Table 5-3 Differential expression of chaperone genes in Sullu and Negra Ojosa (maximum stress).

Genes highlighted in yellow were used for real time validation of the data. ** The fold change response of the PPiase homolog (AtTIG) had a positive fold change in Negra Ojosa, but it did not pass the statistical test.







Real time PCR was carried out on cDNA from leaf samples from Sullu and Negra Ojosa at maximum stress and 24 hours after watering (recovery). HSP40 Chl. and Ppiase Chl products are located in the chloroplast.

5.3.4. Differential expression of ABA responsive genes in Sullu and Negra

Ojosa

Some genes that are known to be responsive to ABA (TAIR database) were responsive in Negra Ojosa and Sullu (Table 4). Many genes involved in ABA signaling

were responsive in Negra Ojosa including 3 MYB transcription factors, 1 HD-zip transcription factor, 2 phosphatases, 2 kinases (1 MAPKK and 1 CDPK) and 1 lipoxogenase. From these set, 2 of the MYB genes and the kinases were downregulated and the other one was up-regulated. In Sullu only 3 genes that were ABA responsive, responded: one COR gene and a Ring Zinc Finger transcription factor were downregulated and a double stranded RNA binding protein showed up-regulation (Table 5-4).

AGI homolog	Description	Туре	Sullu_Exp	Negra_Exp
	mitogen-activated protein kinase 3 [Lycopersicon			
AT3G45640	esculentum]	MAPK	0	
	Encodes calcium dependent protein kinase 3 (CPK3), a			
AT4G23650	member of the Arabidopsis CDPK gene family.	CDPK	0	
	transcription factor [Lycopersicon esculentum] pir S69189			
AT4G34990	myb-related protein TMH27 - tomato	MYB32	0	-
	transcription factor [Lycopersicon esculentum] pirl[T07398]			
AT3G47600	myb-related transcription factor THM6 - tomato	MYB94	0	
	myb-related transcription factor [] vcopersicon esculentum]			
AT5G16600	pirl/T07393 myb-related transcription factor - tomato	MYB43	0	+
	homeobox-leucine zipper protein ATHB-12 [Arabidopsis			
AT3G61890	thaliana] emb[CAB71896.1]	ATHB12	0	+
	protein phosphatase 2C [Nicotiana tabacum]			
	emb CAC84141.2 protein phosphatase 2C [Nicotiana			
AT3G11410	tabacum]	Phosphatase	0	+
	dual specificity protein phosphatase family protein			
AT2G04550	[Arabidopsis thaliana]	Phosphatase	0	+
AT1G55020	lipoxygenase [Solanum tuberosum]	LOX	0	+
AT1G75750	cold-regulated LTCOR12 [Lavatera thuringiaca]	COR		0
	At1g63840/T12P18_14 [Arabidopsis thaliana] pir E96663	RING zinc		
AT1G63840	probable RING zinc finger protein	finger		0
	Encodes a nuclear dsRNA binding protein. Involved in			
	mRNA cleavage. The mutant is characterized by shorter			
	stature, delayed flowering, leaf hyponasty, reduced			
	fertility, decreased rate of root growth, and an altered root			
	gravitropic response. It also exhibits less sensitivity to			
AT1G09700	auxin and cytokinin.	dsRNA bindir	+	0

Table 5-4 Differential expression of ABA responsive genes in Sullu and Negra Ojosa

5.3.5. Differential expression of antioxidant genes in Sullu and Negra Ojosa

Negra Ojosa seem to be experiencing a more severe stress compared with Sullu, since they exhibited lower photosynthesis (Figure 5-5) which was also reflected in the differential expression of heat shock proteins and ABA responsive genes. So since there was not a differential expression on proline biosynthesis or other osmotic related genes (data not shown) the expression of genes related to oxidative stress was investigated, since high levels of drought stress also causes oxidative stress.

Table 5-5. shows the differential expression of genes directly related to antioxidant responses (Mittler 2004). Most of them are up-regulated in Sullu, while they

are downregulated or unchanged in Negra Ojosa. Moreover, most of the genes upregulated in Sullu encode proteins that are located in the chloroplast (1 glutathione synthetase, 1 dehydroascorbate reductase, 3 thioredoxins and 3 glutathione S transferases), which is probably related to the better photosynthetic performance under drought stress in Sullu.

Real time PCR was performed on 3 antioxidant genes: Thioredoxin H, glutathione S transferase and glutathione synthetase, for point of maximum stress and recovery. In both cases these genes are up-regulated in Sullu, compared to Negra Ojosa, where they are downregulated or non changed (Figure 5-7), confirming the microarray results, and also adding the information that antioxidant genes are up-regulated during recovery in Sullu, especially Glutathione S transferase. The homolog of this gene in Arabidopsis (AT3G03190), has been shown to be responsive to oxidative stress (Richards et al., 1998).

Subcelullar			Gene		
location	At homolog	Description	Name*	Sullu_Exp	Negra_Exp
		2,4-D inducible glutathione S-transferase [Glycine max]			
		pir T06239 probable glutathione transferase (EC			
cytosol	AT1G17180	2.5.1.18), 2,4-D inducible - soybean	GSTU25	-	0
		Q03664GTX3_TOBAC probable gluthatione S			
cytosol	AT3G09270	transferase (Auxin induced protein PCNT103)	GSTU8	0	-
cytosol	AT2G02380	glutathione S-transferase [Capsicum annuum]	GSTZ2	0	-
cytosol	AT5G39950	thioredoxin [Glycine max]	TrxH2 **	+	-
		glutathione synthetase [Lycopersicon esculentum] (GSH			
chloroplast	AT5G27380	synthetase) (GSH-S)	GSH2	+	-
		thioredoxin-related, contains weak similarity to Swiss-			
		Prot:Q9SEU7 thioredoxin M-type 3, chloroplast precursor			
chloroplast	AT5G06430	(TRX-M3)	Trx	+	0
		putative thioredoxin reductase [Arabidopsis thaliana]			
		gb AAL32557.1 putative thioredoxin reductase			
chloroplast	AT2G41680	[Arabidopsis thaliana]	Trx red	+	0
chloroplast	AT5G06290	thioredoxin peroxidase [Nicotiana tabacum]	PrxR B	+	0
cyt/chl	AT1G75270	dehydroascorbate reductase [Nicotiana tabacum]	DHAR	+	0
		putative glutathione S-transferase T5 [Lycopersicon			
cytosol	AT1G78380	esculentum]	GSTU19	+	0
cytosol	AT3G03190	glutathione S-transferase [Petunia x hybrida]	GSTF11	+	0
		phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase			
-	-	[Lycopersicon esculentum]	GPX	+	0
		probable glutathione peroxidase [Arabidopsis thaliana]			
ER	AT3G63080	gb AAO50670.1	GPX5	+	0

Table 5-5 Differential expression of ROS scanvenging/antioxidant genes

Genes highlighted in yellow were used for real time validation of the data.

* Gene names for Glutathione transferases are according toWagner (Wagner et al., 2002) and gene names for antioxidant genes are according to Mittler (Mittler et al., 2002).

** The fold change response of the thioredoxin homolog (TrxH2) had a positive fold change in sullu, but it did not pass the statistical test.



Variety



Negra Ojosa

Real time PCR was carried out on cDNA from leaf samples from Sullu and Negra Ojosa at maximum stress (a) and 24 hours after watering (recovery, b). GST: Glutathione-S-transferase, GS: glutathione syntethase and Thio H: thioredoxin H

5.4. Discussion

1.5 1 0.5 0

5.4.1. S. tuberosum spp andigena genotypes are adapted to low water

conditions compared to S. tuberosum

Sullu

The *S. tuberosum spp andigena* genotypes performed better under drought stress conditions compared to *S. tuberosum*. However as it was pointed out earlier, the andigena genotypes showed a different phenotype (i.e, smaller leaves, Figure 5-1), and therefore a direct comparison with *S. tuberosum* was not possible. Nevertheless there was a different

response among the andigena genotypes (who have the same, small leaf, phenotype, Fig1), since not all of them have the same degree of drought stress resistance and we were able to identify two extreme genotypes, a resistant one: Sullu and a susceptible one: Negra Ojosa.

Another phenotypic difference observed between *S. tuberosum* and andigena genotypes, is that *S. tuberosum* (and the hybrid tbr x adg Costanera) increased their root mass greatly during drought stress, while the andigena genotypes had a root mass similar to the control plants (Figure 5-2), which probably is also related with the adaptation of the andigena genotypes to low water conditions.

5.4.2. Heat shock genes that may contribute tolerance to drought stress in Sullu

As shown in Table 5-3, many of the genes that are up-regulated during maximum stress in Sullu encode heat shock proteins that are localized in the chloroplast (7 genes up-regulated, 4 in the chloroplast, 1 in the mitochondria and 2 with unknown location, probably the cytosol). The up-regulation of these genes might explain why Sullu can cope with the stress better than Negra Ojosa. More over, the chaperonins up-regulated are involved in the folding of Rubisco (Viitanen et al., 1995). Many more HSP40-DnaJ genes are up-regulated in Negra Ojosa than in Sullu. The subcellular location of this proteins is unknown, therefore it is assumed that to be cytosolic. The family of HSP40 genes in A. thaliana is large with close to 90 members (Miernyk, 2001). They play a role in mammalian and plant systems in the activation of the ATPase activity of HSP70/Dnak. There are only 17 HSP70s in A. thaliana (Lin et al 2001), and to date it is not known why there are so many HSP40/DnaJ genes in plants. Recent studies suggest that the DnaJ domain it is very important for the recognition of HSP70, and swapping of domains only sometimes affects this interaction (Hennessy et al., 2005). One way to classify HSP40 genes is by the position of the DnaJ domain in the protein. Most of the N-terminal HSP40 proteins are up-regulated in Negra Ojosa (Table 5-3), while in Sullu only one gene with a N-terminal domain is up-regulated, and it is one localized in the mitochondrion, while the other ones are in the cytosol. The HSP40s with N-terminal domain may be helping Negra Ojosa to cope with the higher level of drought stress, while, in Sullu, which is not as stressed, the activation of these HSP40s does not occur.

It is interesting that the differential expression of the heat shock factors, HSFA5, which is up-regulated in Negra Ojosa, belongs to the A class of HSFs (Nover *et al* 2001) and HSFB1, which is down-regulated in Sullu belongs to the B class of HSFs. The B class of HSFs can activate or suppress expression (Czarnecka-Verner et al., 2000), and recent studies with soybean HSFB1 has shown that this suppression might occur through interaction with TFIIB (transcription factor B) (Czarnecka-Verner et al., 2004). Therefore probably Negra Ojosa is increasing the expression of certain HSP genes (i.e HSP40s), while Sullu is avoiding the suppression of gene expression of another class of genes, which might be the chaperonin genes.

5.4.3. Negra Ojosa experiences a severe drought stress, compared to Sullu. ABA signalling genes are up-regulated primarily in Negra Ojosa

ABA accumulates during drought stress and since photosynthesis was severely affected in Negra Ojosa (Figure 5-5) after 25 days (maximum stress), ABA accumulation may already have been at its peak, and therefore many ABA signaling genes were up-regulated in this genotype(Table 5-4), while in Sullu the few that responded were down-regulated. In Negra Ojosa 2 MYBs that were downregulated are responsive to salt stress, jasmonic acid (JA), salicylic acid (SA) and CdCl2 stress as well as to ABA (Yanhui et al., 2006). The other MYB, MYB43, that shows up-regulation in Negra Ojosa is responsive only to ABA (Yanhui et al., 2006). The other transcription factor up-regulated in Negra Ojosa (ATHb12) has been shown to be induced also by water loss to 50% in *A. thaliana* (Olsson et al., 2004). Therefore the TFs up-regulated in Negra Ojosa, are probably specifically regulated by ABA under water loss, while the other TFs have a function under other ABA mediated stress responses.

The other genes that are up-regulated in Negra Ojosa are phosphatases. Moreover, one of them is an homolog of 2 C protein phosphatase (At3g11410), a known negative regulator of ABA signaling (Leung *et al* 1997). Recent studies in Bray's laboratory

(Verslues and Bray, 2006), have proposed that this gene regulates ABA responses, by regulating genes that catabolize/degrade ABA, since ABA accumulation under low water potential in the PP2C mutants (*abi1* and *abi2*) are higher than wild type plants, probably the ABA peak occurred earlier in Negra Ojosa, and PP2C was up-regulated to continue with the downstream events, such as the expression of MYB43 and AThB12, which are not considered as part of the early transcription factors activated by ABA.

5.4.4. Antioxidant genes help Sullu tolerate drought stress

As shown in Table 5-5 and Figure 5-7, most antioxidant genes that show a response in this experiment, are up-regulated in Sullu, while they are not responsive or down-regulated in Negra Ojosa. Moreover, most of these gene products are localized in the chloroplast, which probably helps to reduce ROS that might have arisen due to drought stress, while Negra Ojosa, did not have this extra protection.

There are two GST genes that are up-regulated in Sullu, homologs to GSTU19 (former GST8) and GSTF11 in *A. thaliana*. Drought stress (slow and fast) experiments in *A. thaliana* have shown up-regulation of this gene (Bianchi et al., 2002), moreover the expression pattern was similar to the peroxiredoxin ATPRX33 (At3g49110) which was found to be induced by ozone previously (Sharma and Davis, 1994). Therefore GSTU19, might have helped the plant to scavenge ROS generated by drought stress. The other GST homolog to GSTF11, is also an homolog of the petunia GST *An9* (79% similarity). Inmaize and petunia, this protein seems to be necessary for conjugation of anthocyanins before they can be transferred to the vacuole (Alfenito et al., 1998). Several genes related to anthocyanins production were up-regulated in Sullu (Data not shown) and GSTF11, might have been involved in the transport of anthocyanins in addition to its antioxidant function was finished.

In conclusion, Andigena genotypes are more resistant to drought stress than *S. tuberosum* subpsp *tuberosum* mostly due to morphologic differences. However there is a diverse response to drought among Andigena genotypes, which are independent of morphology/habit. We propose that the higher drought stress resistance found in Sullu, is correlated with concerted up-regulation of heat shock proteins and antioxidant genes encoding proteins located in the chloroplast.

References

- Abe H, Urao T, Ito T, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2003) Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. Plant Cell **15**: 63-78
- Agrawal R, Srikant, R. (1994) Fast Algorithms for Mining Association Rules. *In* JM Bocca JB, Zaniolo C., ed, 20th International Conference on Very Large Data Bases. Morgan Kaufmann, pp 487-499
- Alfenito MR, Souer E, Goodman CD, Buell R, Mol J, Koes R, Walbot V (1998) Functional complementation of anthocyanin sequestration in the vacuole by widely divergent glutathione S-transferases. Plant Cell 10: 1135-1149
- Alvim FC, Carolino SM, Cascardo JC, Nunes CC, Martinez CA, Otoni WC, Fontes EP (2001) Enhanced accumulation of BiP in transgenic plants confers tolerance to water stress. Plant Physiology 126: 1042-1054
- Aparicio F, Thomas CL, Lederer C, Niu Y, Wang D, Maule AJ (2005) Virus induction of heat shock protein 70 reflects a general response to protein accumulation in the plant cytosol. Plant Physiol **138**: 529-536
- Asada K (1999) THE WATER-WATER CYCLE IN CHLOROPLASTS: Scavenging of Active Oxygens and Dissipation of Excess Photons. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology **50:** 601-639
- Bae MS, Cho EJ, Choi EY, Park OK (2003) Analysis of the Arabidopsis nuclear proteome and its response to cold stress. Plant Journal **36**: 652-663
- **Barraclough R, Ellis RJ** (1980) Protein synthesis in chloroplasts. IX. Assembly of newly-synthesized large subunits into ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase in isolated intact pea chloroplasts. Biochim Biophys Acta **608**: 19-31
- **Barros MD, Czarnecka E, Gurley WB** (1992) Mutational analysis of a plant heat shock element. Plant Mol Biol **19:** 665-675
- Battista JR, Park MJ, McLemore AE (2001) Inactivation of two homologues of proteins presumed to be involved in the desiccation tolerance of plants sensitizes Deinococcus radiodurans R1 to desiccation. Cryobiology 43: 133-139
- **Bianchi MW, Roux C, Vartanian N** (2002) Drought regulation of GST8, encoding the Arabidopsis homologue of ParC/Nt107 glutathione transferase/peroxidase. Physiologia Plantarum **116:** 96-105
- Boussiba S, Rikin A, Richmond AE (1975) The Role of Abscisic Acid in Cross-Adaptation of Tobacco Plants. Plant Physiology 56: 337-339
- Bray EA (1997) Plant responses to water deficit. Trends in Plant Science 2: 48-54
- **Bray EA** (2002) Abscisic acid regulation of gene expression during water-deficit stress in the era of the Arabidopsis genome. Plant Cell Environ **25**: 153-161
- Browne J, Tunnacliffe A, Burnell A (2002) Anhydrobiosis: plant desiccation gene found in a nematode. Nature 416: 38
- Cao D, Froehlich JE, Zhang H, Cheng CL (2003) The chlorate-resistant and photomorphogenesis-defective mutant cr88 encodes a chloroplast-targeted HSP90. Plant J 33: 107-118
- Caplan AJ (2003) What is a co-chaperone? Cell Stress Chaperones 8: 105-107

- **Chan CS, Guo L, Shih MC** (2001) Promoter analysis of the nuclear gene encoding the chloroplast glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase B subunit of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Mol Biol **46**: 131-141
- Chang S, Puryear JD, Dias MADL, Funkhouser EA, Newton RJ, Cairney J (1996) Gene expression under water deficit in loblolly pine (Pinus taeda): Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones. Physiol Plant 97: 139-148
- Chaves MM, Maroco J, P., Pereira J, S. (2003) Understanding plant responses to drought from genes to the whole plant. Functional Plant Biology **30**: 239-264
- Chen W, Provart NJ, Glazebrook J, Katagiri F, Chang H-S, Eulgem T, Mauch F, Luan S, Zou G, Whitham SA, Budworth PR, Tao Y, Xie Z, Chen X, Lam S, Kreps JA, Harper JF, Si-Ammour A, Mauch-Mani B, Heinlein M, Kobayashi K, Hohn T, Dangl JL, Wang X, Zhu T (2002) Expression Profile Matrix of Arabidopsis Transcription Factor Genes Suggests Their Putative Functions in Response to Environmental Stresses. Plant Cell 14: 559-574
- Cho EK, Hong CB (2006) Over-expression of tobacco NtHSP70-1 contributes to drought-stress tolerance in plants. Plant Cell Rep 25: 349-358
- Choi H, Hong J, Ha J, Kang J, Kim SY (2000) ABFs, a family of ABA-responsive element binding factors. J Biol Chem 275: 1723-1730
- CIP (1998) Potato: Growth in Production Accelerates. In IP Center, ed, Potato Facts, Lima, Peru
- Close TJ (1996) Dehydrins: Emergence of a biochemical role of a family of plant dehydration proteins. Physiol Plant 97: 795-803
- Close TJ (1997) Dehydrins: A commonality in the response of plants to dehydration and low temperature. Physiologia Plantarum 100: 291-296
- Czarnecka-Verner E, Pan S, Salem T, Gurley WB (2004) Plant class B HSFs inhibit transcription and exhibit affinity for TFIIB and TBP. Plant Mol Biol 56: 57-75
- Czarnecka-Verner E, Yuan CX, Scharf KD, Englich G, Gurley WB (2000) Plants contain a novel multi-member class of heat shock factors without transcriptional activator potential. Plant Mol Biol 43: 459-471
- **Desikan R, Hancock J, Neill S** (2005) Reactive oxygen species as signalling molecules. *In* N Smirnoff, ed, Antioxidants and Reactive Oxygen Species in Plants. Blackwell
- **Diefenbach J, Kindl H** (2000) The membrane-bound DnaJ protein located at the cytosolic site of glyoxysomes specifically binds the cytosolic isoform 1 of Hsp70 but not other Hsp70 species. Eur J Biochem **267:** 746-754
- **Downs CA, Heckathorn SA** (1998) The mitochondrial small heat-shock protein protects NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase of the electron transport chain during heat stress in plants. FEBS Letters **430**: 246-250
- **Dubos C, Plomion C** (2003) Identification of water-deficit responsive genes in maritime pine (Pinus pinaster Ait.) roots. Plant Mol Biol **51:** 249-262
- Dure L, 3rd (1993) A repeating 11-mer amino acid motif and plant desiccation. Plant J 3: 363-369
- Dure L, Crouch M, Harada J, Ho T, Mundy J, Quatrano R, Thomas T, Sung ZR (1989) Common amino acid sequence domains among the LEA proteins of higher plants. Plant Molecular Biology V12: 475-486

- Emanuelsson O, Nielsen H., Brunak, S. and von Heijne G. (2000) Predicting subcellular localization of proteins based on their N-terminal amino acid sequence. J. Mol. Biol **300**: 1005-1016
- Flexas J, Bota J, Galmes J, Medrano H, Ribas-Carbo M (2006) Keeping a positive carbon balance under adverse conditions: responses of photosynthesis and respiration to water stress. Physiologia Plantarum 127: 343-352
- Flexas J, Medrano H (2002) Drought-inhibition of photosynthesis in C3 plants: stomatal and non-stomatal limitations revisited. Ann Bot (Lond) 89: 183-189
- **Fujimoto SY, Ohta M, Usui A, Shinshi H, Ohme-Takagi M** (2000) Arabidopsis Ethylene-Responsive Element Binding Factors Act as Transcriptional Activators or Repressors of GCC Box-Mediated Gene Expression. Plant Cell **12**: 393-404
- Garay-Arroyo A, Colmenero-Flores JM, Garciarrubio A, Covarrubias AA (2000) Highly hydrophilic proteins in prokaryotes and eukaryotes are common during conditions of water deficit. J Biol Chem 275: 5668-5674
- Gigon A, Matos AR, Laffray D, Zuily-Fodil Y, Pham-Thi AT (2004) Effect of drought stress on lipid metabolism in the leaves of Arabidopsis thaliana (ecotype Columbia). Annals of Botany 94: 345-351
- Gorza L, Vitadello M (2000) Reduced amount of the glucose-regulated protein GRP94 in skeletal myoblasts results in loss of fusion competence. Faseb J 14: 461-475
- Hamdy A, Ragab R, Scarascia-Mugnozza E (2003) Coping with water scarcity: Water saving and increasing water productivity. Irrigation and Drainage 52: 3-20
- Hamilton EW, 3rd, Heckathorn SA (2001) Mitochondrial adaptations to NaCl. Complex I is protected by anti-oxidants and small heat shock proteins, whereas complex II is protected by proline and betaine. Plant Physiol 126: 1266-1274
- Haralampidis K, Milioni D, Rigas S, Hatzopoulos P (2001) Combinatorial interaction of cis elements specifies the expression of the Arabidopsis AtHSP90-1 gene. Plant Physiol 129: 1138-1149
- Harmer SL, Hogenesch JB, Straume M, Chang H-S, Han B, Zhu T, Wang X, Kreps JA, Kay SA (2000) Orchestrated transcription of key pathways in Arabidopsis by the circadian clock. Science **290**: 2110-2113
- Hawkes JG (1990) The potato: evolution, biodiversity and genetic resources. Belhaven Press, London, UK
- He Z, Li L, Luan S (2004) Immunophilins and parvulins. Superfamily of peptidyl prolyl isomerases in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **134**: 1248-1267
- Heath LS, Ramakrishnan N, Sederoff RR, Whetten RW, Chevone BI, Struble CA, Jouenne VY, Chen DW, van Zyl L, Grene R (2002) Studying the functional genomics of stress responses in loblolly pine with the Expresso microarray experiment management system. Comparative and Functional Genomics 3: 226-243
- Heazlewood JL, Tonti-Filippini JS, Gout AM, Day DA, Whelan J, Millar AH (2004) Experimental analysis of the Arabidopsis mitochondrial proteome highlights signaling and regulatory components, provides assessment of targeting prediction programs, and indicates plant-specific mitochondrial proteins. Plant Cell 16: 241-256

- Hennessy F, Nicoll WS, Zimmermann R, Cheetham ME, Blatch GL (2005) Not all J domains are created equal: Implications for the specificity of Hsp40-Hsp70 interactions. Protein Science 14: 1697-1709
- Higgins DG, Thompson JD, Gibson TJ (1996) Using CLUSTAL for multiple sequence alignments. *In* Computer Methods for Macromolecular Sequence Analysis, Vol 266, pp 383-402
- Higo K, Ugawa Y, Iwamoto M, Korenaga T (1999) Plant cis-acting regulatory DNA elements (PLACE) database: 1999. Nucl. Acids Res. 27: 297-300
- Hong SW, Vierling E (2000) Mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana defective in the acquisition of tolerance to high temperature stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 4392-4397
- **Hong SW, Vierling E** (2001) Hsp101 is necessary for heat tolerance but dispensable for development and germination in the absence of stress. Plant J **27:** 25-35
- Honjoh KI, Matsumoto H, Shimizu H, Ooyama K, Tanaka K, Oda Y, Takata R, Joh T, Suga K, Miyamoto T, Iio M, Hatano S (2000) Cryoprotective activities of group 3 late embryogenesis abundant proteins from Chlorella vulgaris C-27. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 64: 1656-1663
- Huai Q, Wang H, Liu Y, Kim HY, Toft D, Ke H (2005) Structures of the N-terminal and middle domains of E. coli Hsp90 and conformation changes upon ADP binding. Structure 13: 579-590
- Huaman Z, Ross RW (1985) Updated Listing of Potato Species Names, Abbreviations and Taxonomic Status. American Potato Journal 62: 629-641
- Hubert DA, Tornero P, Belkhadir Y, Krishna P, Takahashi A, Shirasu K, Dangl JL (2003) Cytosolic HSP90 associates with and modulates the Arabidopsis RPM1 disease resistance protein. EMBO J 22
- Hudson ME, Quail PH (2003) Identification of promoter motifs involved in the network of phytochrome A-regulated gene expression by combined analysis of genomic sequence and microarray data. Plant Physiol 133: 1605-1616
- Hulzink RJ, de Groot PF, Croes AF, Quaedvlieg W, Twell D, Wullems GJ, Van Herpen MM (2002) The 5'-untranslated region of the ntp303 gene strongly enhances translation during pollen tube growth, but not during pollen maturation. Plant Physiol 129: 342-353
- Ishiguro S, Watanabe Y, Ito N, Nonaka H, Takeda N, Sakai T, Kanaya H, Okada K (2002) SHEPHERD is the Arabidopsis GRP94 responsible for the formation of functional CLAVATA proteins. Embo J 21: 898-908
- Ishitani M, Xiong L, Stevenson B, Zhu JK (1997) Genetic analysis of osmotic and cold stress signal transduction in Arabidopsis: interactions and convergence of abscisic acid-dependent and abscisic acid-independent pathways. Plant Cell 9: 1935-1949
- Ismail AM, Hall AE, Close TJ (1999) Allelic variation of a dehydrin gene cosegregates with chilling tolerance during seedling emergence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 13566-13570
- Israelsson M, Siegel RS, Young J, Hashimoto M, Iba K, Schroeder JI (2006) Guard cell ABA and CO2 signaling network updates and Ca2+ sensor priming hypothesis. Curr Opin Plant Biol 9: 654-663
- Iuchi S, YamaguchiShinozaki K, Urao T, Terao T, Shinozaki K (1996) Novel drought-inducible genes in the highly drought-tolerant cowpea: Cloning of

cDNAs and analysis of the expression of the corresponding genes. Plant and Cell Physiology **37**: 1073-1082

- Jensen LJ, Knudsen S (2000) Automatic discovery of regulatory patterns in promoter regions based on whole cell expression data and functional annotation. Bioinformatics 16: 326-333
- Jiang M, Zhang J (2002) Water stress-induced abscisic acid accumulation triggers the increased generation of reactive oxygen species and up-regulates the activities of antioxidant enzymes in maize leaves. J Exp Bot 53: 2401-2410
- Kamauchi S, Nakatani H, Nakano C, Urade R (2005) Gene expression in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Febs J **272**: 3461-3476
- Kasuga M, Liu Q, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1999) Improving plant drought, salt, and freezing tolerance by gene transfer of a single stress-inducible transcription factor. Nat Biotechnol 17: 287-291
- Kato M, Hata N, Banerjee N, Futcher B, Zhang MQ (2004) Identifying combinatorial regulation of transcription factors and binding motifs. Genome Biol 5: R56
- Kerr MK, Churchill GA (2001) Experimental design for gene expression microarrays. Biostatistics 2: 183-201
- Kitao M, Lei TT, Koike T, Tobita H, Maruyama Y (2003) Higher electron transport rate observed at low intercellular CO2 concentration in long-term droughtacclimated leaves of Japanese mountain birch (Betula ermanii). Physiologia Plantarum 118: 406-413
- Kiyosue T, Beetham JK, Pinot F, Hammock BD, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1994) Characterization of an Arabidopsis cDNA for a soluble epoxyde hydrolase gene that is inducible by auxin and water stress. Plant J. 6
- **Kiyosue T, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K** (1994) Cloning of cDNAs for genes that are early-responsive to dehydration stress (ERDs) in Arabidopsis thaliana L.: identification of three ERDs as HSP cognate genes. Plant Mol Biol **25:** 791-798
- Klein EM, Mascheroni L, Pompa A, Ragni L, Weimar T, Lilley KS, Dupree P, Vitale A (2006) Plant endoplasmin supports the protein secretory pathway and has a role in proliferating tissues. Plant J **48**: 657-673
- Koizumi N (1996) Isolation and responses to stress of a gene that encodes a luminal binding protein in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant and Cell Physiology **37:** 862-865
- Kozutsumi Y, Segal M, Normington K, Gething MJ, Sambrook J (1988) The presence of malfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum signals the induction of glucose-regulated proteins. Nature 332: 462-464
- Krishna P, Gloor G (2001) The HSP90 family of proteins in Arabidopsis thaliana. Cell Stress Chaperones 6: 238-246
- Krishna P, Sacco M, Cherutti JF, Hill S (1995) Cold-Induced Accumulation of HSP90 transcripts in Brassica napus. Plant Physiol **107**: 915-923
- Kumar R, Kang GS (2006) Usefulness of Andigena (Solanum tuberosum SSP andigena) genotypes as parents in breeding early bulking potato cultivars. Euphytica 150: 107-115
- Lafitte HR, Guan YS, Yan S, Li ZK (2007) Whole plant responses, key processes, and adaptation to drought stress: the case of rice. Journal of Experimental Botany 58: 169-175

- Lahlou O, Ouattar S, Ledent JF (2003) The effect of drought and cultivar on growth parameters, yield and yield components of potato. Agronomie 23: 257-268
- Lee GJ, Vierling E (2000) A small heat shock protein cooperates with heat shock protein 70 systems to reactivate a heat-denatured protein. Plant Physiol 122: 189-198
- Lee TI, Rinaldi NJ, Robert F, Odom DT, Bar-Joseph Z, Gerber GK, Hannett NM, Harbison CT, Thompson CM, Simon I, Zeitlinger J, Jennings EG, Murray HL, Gordon DB, Ren B, Wyrick JJ, Tagne J-B, Volkert TL, Fraenkel E, Gifford DK, Young RA (2002) Transcriptional Regulatory Networks in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Science 298: 799-804
- LeNoble ME, Spollen WG, Sharp RE (2004) Maintenance of shoot growth by endogenous ABA: genetic assessment of the involvement of ethylene suppression. J Exp Bot 55: 237-245
- Leung J, Merlot S, Giraudat J (1997) The Arabidopsis ABSCISIC ACID-INSENSITIVE2 (ABI2) and ABI1 genes encode homologous protein phosphatases 2C involved in abscisic acid signal transduction. Plant Cell 9: 759-771
- Lin BL, Wang JS, Liu HC, Chen RW, Meyer Y, Barakat A, Delseny M (2001) Genomic analysis of the Hsp70 superfamily in Arabidopsis thaliana. Cell Stress Chaperones 6: 201-208
- Liu Q, Kasuga M, Sakuma Y, Abe H, Miura S, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1998) Two transcription factors, DREB1 and DREB2, with an EREBP/AP2 DNA binding domain separate two cellular signal transduction pathways in drought- and low-temperature-responsive gene expression, respectively, in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 10: 1391-1406
- Liu Y, Burch-Smith T, Schiff M, Feng S, Dinesh-Kumar SP (2004) Molecular chaperone Hsp90 associates with resistance protein N and its signaling proteins SGT1 and Rar1 to modulate an innate immune response in plants. The Journal Of Biological Chemistry 279: 2101-2108
- Lorenz WW, Sun F, Liang C, Kolychev D, Wang H, Zhao X, Cordonnier-Pratt MM, Pratt LH, Dean JF (2006) Water stress-responsive genes in loblolly pine (Pinus taeda) roots identified by analyses of expressed sequence tag libraries. Tree Physiol 26: 1-16
- Lorenzo O, Piqueras R, Sanchez-Serrano JJ, Solano R (2003) ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR1 Integrates Signals from Ethylene and Jasmonate Pathways in Plant Defense. Plant Cell 15: 165-178
- Mane SP, Vasquez-Robinet C, Sioson AA, Heath LS, Grene R (2007) Early PLD alpha-mediated events in response to progressive drought stress in Arabidopsis: a transcriptome analysis. Journal of Experimental Botany 58: 241-252
- Martinez IM, Chrispeels MJ (2003) Genomic analysis of the unfolded protein response in Arabidopsis shows its connection to important cellular processes. Plant Cell 15: 561-576
- Melnick J, Dul JL, Argon Y (1994) Sequential interaction of the chaperones BiP and GRP94 with immunoglobulin chains in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature **370**: 373-375

- Meunier L, Usherwood YK, Chung KT, Hendershot LM (2002) A subset of chaperones and folding enzymes form multiprotein complexes in endoplasmic reticulum to bind nascent proteins. Mol Biol Cell 13: 4456-4469
- Meyer S, Genty B (1998) Mapping intercellular CO2 mole fraction (Ci) in rosa rubiginosa leaves fed with abscisic acid by using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging. Significance Of ci estimated from leaf gas exchange. Plant Physiol 116: 947-957
- Miernyk JA (2001) The J-domain proteins of Arabidopsis thaliana: an unexpectedly large and diverse family of chaperones. Cell Stress Chaperones 6: 209-218
- Milioni D, Hatzopoulos P (1997) Genomic organization of hsp90 gene family in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol Biol 35: 955-961
- Mishra G, Zhang W, Deng F, Zhao J, Wang X (2006) A bifurcating pathway directs abscisic acid effects on stomatal closure and opening in Arabidopsis. Science 312: 264-266
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends in Plant Science 7: 405-410
- Mittler R, Zilinskas BA (1994) Regulation of pea cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase and other antioxidant enzymes during the progression of drought stress and following recovery from drought. Plant J 5: 397-405
- Mizrahi Y, Blumenfeld A, Bittner S, Richmond AE (1971) Abscisic Acid and Cytokinin Contents of Leaves in Relation to Salinity and Relative Humidity. Plant Physiology 48: 752-755
- Morgan JM (1984) Osmoregulation and Water-Stress in Higher-Plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology **35**: 299-319
- Nakashima K, Shinwari ZK, Sakuma Y, Seki M, Miura S, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2000) Organization and expression of two Arabidopsis DREB2 genes encoding DRE-binding proteins involved in dehydration- and high-salinityresponsive gene expression. Plant Molecular Biology **42:** 657-665
- Noctor G, Veljovic-Jovanovic S, Foyer CH (2000) Peroxide processing in photosynthesis: antioxidant coupling and redox signalling. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 355: 1465-1475
- Nylander M, Svensson J, Palva ET, Welin BV (2001) Stress-induced accumulation and tissue-specific localization of dehydrins in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Mol Biol 45: 263-279
- **Oh SJ, Song SI, Kim YS, Jang HJ, Kim SY, Kim M, Kim YK, Nahm BH, Kim JK** (2005) Arabidopsis CBF3/DREB1A and ABF3 in transgenic rice increased tolerance to abiotic stress without stunting growth. Plant Physiol **138**: 341-351
- **Ohgishi M, Oka A, Morelli G, Ruberti I, Aoyama T** (2001) Negative autoregulation of th Arabidopsis homeobox gene ATHB-2. Plant J **25:** 389-398
- **Olsson AS, Engstrom P, Soderman E** (2004) The homeobox genes ATHB12 and ATHB7 encode potential regulators of growth in response to water deficit in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol Biol **55:** 663-677
- **Pastori GM, Foyer CH** (2002) Common components, networks, and pathways of crosstolerance to stress. The central role of "redox" and abscisic acid-mediated controls. Plant Physiol **129:** 460-468

- Pati A, Vasquez-Robinet C, Heath L, Grene R, Murali TM (2006) Models and analysis of promoters using annotated genomes and gene expression data. BMC bioinformatics 7: 218
- Pellegrineschi A, Reynolds M, Pacheco M, Brito RM, Almeraya R, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Hoisington D (2004) Stress-induced expression in wheat of the Arabidopsis thaliana DREB1A gene delays water stress symptoms under greenhouse conditions. Genome 47: 493-500
- Pilpel Y, Sudarsanam P, Church GM (2001) Identifying regulatory networks by combinatorial analysis of promoter elements. Nat Genet 29: 153-159
- Polla BS, Kantengwa S, Francois D, Salvioli S, Franceschi C, Marsac C, Cossarizza A (1996) Mitochondria are selective targets for the protective effects of heat shock against oxidative injury. Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America 93: 6458-6463
- Prasinos C, Krampis K, Samakovli D, Hatzopoulos P (2005) Tight regulation of expression of two Arabidopsis cytosolic HSP90 genes during embryo development. J Expt Bot. 56: 633-644
- Pratt WB, Krishna P, Olsen LJ (2001) HSP90-binding immunophilins in plants: the protein movers. Trends Plant Sci. 6: 54-58
- Queitsch C, Hong SW, Vierling E, Lindquist S (2000) Heat shock protein 101 plays a crucial role in thermotolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 12: 479-492
- Queitsch C, Sangster TA, Lindquist S (2002) Hsp90 as a capacitor of phenotypic variation. Nature 417: 618-624
- Radin JW (1981) Water Relations of Cotton Plants under Nitrogen Deficiency: III. STOMATAL CONDUCTANCE, PHOTOSYNTHESIS, AND ABSCISIC ACID ACCUMULATION DURING DROUGHT. Plant Physiol 67: 115-119
- Randow F, Seed B (2001) Endoplasmic reticulum chaperone gp96 is required for innate immunity but not cell viability. Nat Cell Biol 3: 891-896
- Reddy RK, Kurek I, Silverstein AM, Chinkers M, Breiman A, Krishna P (1998) High-molecular-weight FK506-binding proteins are components of heat-shock protein 90 heterocomplexes in wheat germ lysate. Plant Physiol **118**: 1395-1401
- Reiser V, Raitt DC, Saito H (2003) Yeast osmosensor Sln1 and plant cytokinin receptor Cre1 respond to changes in turgor pressure. J Cell Biol 161: 1035-1040
- **Report SIFRC** (1986) Priority research needs from a forest industry view. *In* Southern Industrial Forestry Research Council Report. American Pulpwood Association, Jackson, MS, p 26
- **Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G** (1996) Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. Free Radic Biol Med **20**: 933-956
- Richards KD, Schott EJ, Sharma YK, Davis KR, Gardner RC (1998) Aluminum induces oxidative stress genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol 116: 409-418
- Riechmann JL, Heard J, Martin G, Reuber L, -Z. C, Jiang, Keddie J, Adam L, Pineda O, Ratcliffe OJ, Samaha RR, Creelman R, Pilgrim M, Broun P, Zhang JZ, Ghandehari D, Sherman BK, -L. Yu G (2000) Arabidopsis Transcription Factors: Genome-Wide Comparative Analysis Among Eukaryotes. Science 290: 2105-2110

- Rizhsky L, Liang H, Mittler R (2002) The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. Plant Physiology **130**: 1143-1151
- Rizhsky L, Liang H, Shuman J, Shulaev V, Davletova S, Mittler R (2004) When defense pathways collide. The response of Arabidopsis to a combination of drought and heat stress. Plant Physiology **134**: 1683-1696
- Robertson JM, Pharis RP, Huang YY, Reid DM, Yeung EC (1985) Drought-Induced Increases in Abscisic Acid Levels in the Root Apex of Sunflower. Plant Physiol 79: 1086-1089
- Roxas VP, Smith RK, Jr., Allen ER, Allen RD (1997) Overexpression of glutathione Stransferase/glutathione peroxidase enhances the growth of transgenic tobacco seedlings during stress. Nat Biotechnol 15: 988-991
- Saeed AI, Sharov V, White J, Li J, Liang W, Bhagabati N, Braisted J, Klapa M, Currier T, Thiagarajan M, Sturn A, Snuffin M, Rezantsev A, Popov D, Ryltsov A, Kostukovich E, Borisovsky I, Liu Z, Vinsavich A, Trush V, Quackenbush J (2003) TM4: A free, open-source system for microarray data management and analysis. Biotechniques 34: 374-+
- Sangster TA, Queitsch C (2005) The HSP90 chaperone complex, an emerging force in plant development and phenotypic plasticity. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 8: 86-92
- Sanmiya K, Suzuki K, Egawa Y, Shono M (2004) Mitochondrial small heat-shock protein enhances thermotolerance in tobacco plants. FEBS Letters 557: 265-268
- Satoh R, Nakashima K, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2002) ACTCAT, a novel cis-acting element for proline- and hypoosmolarity-responsive expression of the ProDH gene encoding proline dehydrogenase in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol **130**: 709-719
- Scharf KD, Siddique M, Vierling E (2001) The expanding family of Arabidopsis thaliana small heat stress proteins and a new family of proteins containing alphacrystallin domains (Acd proteins). Cell Stress & Chaperones 6: 225-237
- Schroeder JI, Allen GJ, Hugouvieux V, Kwak JM, Waner D (2001) Guard cell signal transduction. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 52: 627-658
- Schroeder JI, Kwak JM, Allen GJ (2001) Guard cell abscisic acid signalling and engineering drought hardiness in plants. Nature 410: 327-330
- Seki M, Narusaka M, Abe H, Kasuga M, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Carninci P, Hayashizaki Y, Shinozaki K (2001) Monitoring the expression pattern of 1300 Arabidopsis genes under drought and cold stresses by using a full-length cDNA microarray. Plant Cell 13: 61-72
- Selote DS, Bharti S, Khanna-Chopra R (2004) Drought acclimation reduces O2*accumulation and lipid peroxidation in wheat seedlings. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 314: 724-729
- Selote DS, Khanna-Chopra R (2006) Drought acclimation confers oxidative stress tolerance by inducina co-ordinated antioxidant defense at cellular and subcellular level in leaves of wheat seedlings. Physiologia Plantarum 127: 494-506
- Sharma YK, Davis KR (1994) Ozone-Induced Expression of Stress-Related Genes in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol 105: 1089-1096

- Sharp RE, LeNoble ME (2002) ABA, ethylene and the control of shoot and root growth under water stress. J Exp Bot 53: 33-37
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (1997) Gene Expression and Signal Transduction in Water-Stress Response. Plant Physiol 115: 327-334
- Shock CC, Feibert EBG, Saunders LD (1998) Potato yield and quality response to deficit irrigation. Hortscience 33: 655-659
- Shukla M (2004) GeneSieve: A Probe Selection Strategy for cDNA Microarrays. Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA
- Shultz RP (1999) Loblolly-the pine for the twenty first century. New Forests 17: 71-88
- Sioson AA, Mane SP, Li P, Sha W, Heath LS, Bohnert HJ, Grene R (2006) The statistics of identifying differentially expressed genes in Expresso and TM4: a comparison. BMC Bioinformatics 7: 215
- Stasolla C, van Zyl L, Egertsdotter U, Craig D, Liu W, Sederoff RR (2003) The effects of polyethylene glycol on gene expression of developing white spruce somatic embryos. Plant Physiol 131: 49-60
- Stockinger EJ, Gilmour SJ, Thomashow MF (1997) Arabidopsis thaliana CBF1 encodes an AP2 domain-containing transcriptional activator that binds to the Crepeat/DRE, a cis-acting DNA regulatory element that stimulates transcription in response to low temperature and water deficit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 1035-1040
- Suh WC, Burkholder WF, Lu CZ, Zhao X, Gottesman ME, Gross CA (1998) Interaction of the Hsp70 molecular chaperone, DnaK, with its cochaperone DnaJ. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 15223-15228
- Sung DY, Guy CL (2003) Physiological and molecular assessment of altered expression of Hsc70-1 in Arabidopsis. Evidence for pleiotropic consequences. Plant Physiol 132: 979-987
- Sung DY, Vierling E, Guy CL (2001) Comprehensive expression profile analysis of the Arabidopsis Hsp70 gene family. Plant Physiol 126: 789-800
- **Tai GCC, Tarn TR** (1980) Multivariate Analyses of Potato Hybrids .2. Discrimination between Tuberosum-Andigena Hybrid Families and Their Relationship to Their Parents. Canadian Journal of Genetics and Cytology **22**: 279-286
- Takahashi A, Casais C, Ichimura K, Shirasu K (2003) HSP90 interacts with RAR1 and SGT1 and is essential for RPS2-mediated disease resistance in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 100: 11777-11782
- Talame V, Ozturk NZ, Bohnert HJ, Tuberosa R (2007) Barley transcript profiles under dehydration shock and drought stress treatments: a comparative analysis. J Exp Bot 58: 229-240
- **Tamas MJ, Rep M, Thevelein JM, Hohmann S** (2000) Stimulation of the yeast high osmolarity glycerol (HOG) pathway: evidence for a signal generated by a change in turgor rather than by water stress. FEBS Lett **472:** 159-165
- Tang W, Perry SE (2003) Binding site selection for the plant MADS domain protein AGL15: an in vitro and in vivo study. J Biol Chem 278: 28154-28159
- Terrazas F, Suarez V, Watson G, Thiele G, Walker T, Devaux A (1996) Analyzing Potato Productivity in Farmers' Fields in Bolivia. . In CIP, ed, CIP Program Report. CIP

- Uno Y, Furihata T, Abe H, Yoshida R, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2000) Arabidopsis basic leucine zipper transcription factors involved in an abscisic aciddependent signal transduction pathway under drought and high-salinity conditions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 11632-11637
- **Urao T, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Urao S, Shinozaki K** (1993) An Arabidopsis myb homolog is induced by dehydration stress and its gene product binds to the conserved MYB recognition sequence. Plant Cell **5:** 1529-1539
- Valliyodan B, Nguyen HT (2006) Understanding regulatory networks and engineering for enhanced drought tolerance in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 9: 189-195
- van Helden J, Andre B, Collado-Vides J (1998) Extracting regulatory sites from the upstream region of yeast genes by computational analysis of oligonucleotide frequencies. J Mol Biol 281: 827-842
- Vasquez-Robinet C, Watkinson, J. I., Sioson, A., Heath, L., Ramakrishnan, N., Singhal, V., Shukla, M., Grene, R. (In preparation) Preconditioning for photosynthetic acclimation in drought-stressed loblolly pine involves activation of the unfolded protein response
- Verslues PE, Bray EA (2006) Role of abscisic acid (ABA) and Arabidopsis thaliana ABA-insensitive loci in low water potential-induced ABA and proline accumulation. J Exp Bot 57: 201-212
- Vierling E (1991) The Roles of Heat-Shock Proteins in Plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology **42**: 579-620
- Viitanen PV, Schmidt M, Buchner J, Suzuki T, Vierling E, Dickson R, Lorimer GH, Gatenby A, Soll J (1995) Functional Characterization of the Higher Plant Chloroplast Chaperonins. J Biol Chem 270: 18158-18164
- Wagner U, Edwards R, Dixon DP, Mauch F (2002) Probing the diversity of the Arabidopsis glutathione S-transferase gene family. Plant Mol Biol 49: 515-532
- Walford S-A, Thomson JA, Farrant JM, Mundree SG (2004) Isolation and characterization of a novel dehydration-induced Grp94 homologue from the resurrection plant *Xerophyta viscosa*. South African Journal of Botany 70: 741-750
- Walz C, Juenger M, Schad M, Kehr J (2002) Evidence for the presence and activity of a complete antioxidant defence system in mature sieve tubes. Plant J **31:** 189-197
- Wang D, Weaver ND, Kesarwani M, Dong X (2005) Induction of protein secretory pathway is required for systemic acquired resistance. Science **308**: 1036-1040
- Wang H, Tang W, Zhu C, Perry SE (2002) A chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) approach to isolate genes regulated by AGL15, a MADS domain protein that preferentially accumulates in embryos. Plant J 32: 831-843
- Wang WX, Vinocur B, Shoseyov O, Altman A (2004) Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response. Trends in Plant Science 9: 244-252
- Wang ZY, Kenigsbuch D, Sun L, Harel E, Ong MS, Tobin EM (1997) A Myb-related transcription factor is involved in the phytochrome regulation of an Arabidopsis Lhch gene. Plant Cell 9: 491-507
- Watkinson JI, Hendricks L, Sioson AA, Vasquez-Robinet C, Stromberg V, Heath LS, Schuler M, Bohnert HJ, Bonierbale M, Grene R (2006) Accessions of Solanum tuberosum ssp andigena show differences in photosynthetic recovery

after drought stress as reflected in gene expression profiles. Plant Science 171: 745-758

- Watkinson JI, Sioson AA, Vasquez-Robinet C, Shukla M, Kumar D, Ellis M, Heath LS, Ramakrishnan N, Chevone B, Watson LT, van Zyl L, Egertsdotter U, Sederoff RR, Grene R (2003) Photosynthetic acclimation is reflected in specific patterns of gene expression in drought-stressed loblolly pine. Plant Physiology 133: 1702-1716
- Wegele H, Muller L, Buchner J (2004) Hsp70 and Hsp90--a relay team for protein folding. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 151: 1-44
- Wehmeyer N, Vierling E (2000) The expression of small heat shock proteins in seeds responds to discrete developmental signals and suggests a general protective role in desiccation tolerance. Plant Physiol 122: 1099-1108
- Weisz R, Kaminski J, Smilowitz Z (1994) Water-Deficit Effects on Potato Leaf Growth and Transpiration - Utilizing Fraction Extractable Soil-Water for Comparison with Other Crops. American Potato Journal 71: 829-840
- Welin BV, Olson A, Nylander M, Palva ET (1994) Characterization and differential expression of dhn/lea/rab-like genes during cold acclimation and drought stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Mol Biol **26:** 131-144
- Winkel-Shirley B (2001) Flavonoid biosynthesis. A colorful model for genetics, biochemistry, cell biology, and biotechnology. Plant Physiol **126**: 485-493
- Wise MJ, Tunnacliffe A (2004) POPP the question: what do LEA proteins do? Trends Plant Sci 9: 13-17
- Wood JM (1999) Osmosensing by bacteria: Signals and membrane-based sensors. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 63: 230-+
- Xu D, Duan X, Wang B, Hong B, Ho T, Wu R (1996) Expression of a Late Embryogenesis Abundant Protein Gene, HVA1, from Barley Confers Tolerance to Water Deficit and Salt Stress in Transgenic Rice. Plant Physiol 110: 249-257
- Yabe N, Takahashi T, Komeda Y (1994) Analysis of tissue-specific expression of Arabidopsis thaliana HSP90-family gene HSP81. Plant Cell Physiol 35: 1207-1219
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2006) Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annual Review of Plant Biology **57:** 781-803
- Yamamoto A, Mizukami Y, Sakurai H (2005) Identification of a novel class of target genes and a novel type of binding sequence of heat shock transcription factor in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 280: 11911-11919
- Yanhui C, Xiaoyuan Y, Kun H, Meihua L, Jigang L, Zhaofeng G, Zhiqiang L, Yunfei Z, Xiaoxiao W, Xiaoming Q, Yunping S, Li Z, Xiaohui D, Jingchu L, Xing-Wang D, Zhangliang C, Hongya G, Li-Jia Q (2006) The MYB transcription factor superfamily of Arabidopsis: expression analysis and phylogenetic comparison with the rice MYB family. Plant Mol Biol 60: 107-124
- Yoshiba Y, Kiyosue T, Nakashima K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (1997) Regulation of levels of proline as an osmolyte in plants under water stress. Plant Cell Physiol **38**: 1095-1102

- Young JC, Obermann WM, Hartl FU (1998) Specific binding of tetratricopeptide repeat proteins to the C-terminal 12-kDa domain of hsp90. J Biol Chem 273: 18007-18010
- Zhang L, Ohta A, Takagi M, Imai R (2000) Expression of plant group 2 and group 3 lea genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae revealed functional divergence among LEA proteins. J Biochem (Tokyo) 127: 611-616
- **Zhang XP, Glaser E** (2002) Interaction of plant mitochondrial and chloroplast signal peptides with the Hsp70 molecular chaperone. Trends in Plant Science 7: 14-21
- Zhang Z, Quick MK, Kanelakis KC, Gijzen M, Krishna P (2003) Characterization of a plant homolog of hop, a cochaperone of hsp90. Plant Physiol 131: 525-535
- Zhu J, Gong Z, Zhang C, Song CP, Damsz B, Inan G, Koiwa H, Zhu JK, Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA (2002) OSM1/SYP61: a syntaxin protein in Arabidopsis controls abscisic acid-mediated and non-abscisic acid-mediated responses to abiotic stress. Plant Cell 14: 3009-3028